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There has been much public commentary 
during the year concerning the money 
held by PNG Sustainable Development 
Program Ltd in its Long Term Fund, and 
the use and application of other assets 
and income. Much of that commentary has 
been false and misleading.

I wish to reassure Western Province 
people that the money in the Long Term 
Fund remains safe and secure in high-
quality investments around the world. The 
company’s board of directors continues to 
abide by its legal and moral obligations to 
protect and preserve PNGSDP assets and 
income for future sustainable development 
in Western Province. PNGSDP continues to 
comply with the laws of Papua New Guinea 
and Singapore, as it has always done.

The security of money in the Long Term 
Fund is PNGSDP’s first priority, so that 
sustainable development spending can 
continue for at least 40 years after Mine 
Closure is announced. Mine Closure is 
defined in the company’s Program Rules 
as “the permanent cessation of all mining 
and milling activities at or in association 
with the Ok Tedi Mine”.

That point has not yet been reached, as 
the mine is still operating, and therefore 
the company is legally prevented from 
spending money in the Long Term Fund. 
Nor does it have any primary income in 
the form of dividends from OTML since the 
expropriation by the State of the company’s 
63.4 percent shareholding in the mine. It is 
for these reasons that the company was 
forced to cease sustainable development 
projects in Western Province and the rest 
of Papua New Guinea in 2013.

But the board of directors and management 
are continuing to look at all legal options 
for resuming spending on sustainable 
development as soon as legally possible.

In the meantime, PNGSDP is fine-tuning 
its investment guidelines to ensure that 
returns on its Long Term Fund portfolio 
are maximized without compromising the 
security of its investments, and it is also 
working to maximize returns from its PNG 
assets and investments.

Directors and management recognize 
the importance of working within a much 
reduced budget and have succeeded 

in cutting costs to a significant degree 
without impairing the company’s presently 
restricted functionality, which is primarily to 
manage its assets, the most important of 
which is the Long Term Fund.

Court action against the State’s illegal 
expropriation of Ok Tedi without 
compensation is continuing in Papua New 
Guinea and Singapore. Although PNGSDP 
remains confident about the strength of its 
cases, it is unlikely that a decision will be 
made this year in either jurisdiction.

More recently legal proceedings have 
begun in the PNG Supreme Court seeking 
to have the Ok Tedi Tenth Supplemental 
Agreement Act 2013 declared 
unconstitutional and invalid. This is the 
Act through which the State expropriated 
PNGSDP shareholding in the Ok Tedi mine, 
and purports to give the State the right to 
restructure the company into a State entity.

The case is based on the belief that there 
are serious Constitutional flaws in the Act, 
and that it is harsh, oppressive and unjust. 
Although it is very early days in this case, it 
is possible that a decision could be reached 
late this year.

Until the matters before the courts are 
clear, PNGSDP will continue to focus on 
protecting and preserving the money in 
the Long Term Fund so that it can once 
again be applied to social and economic 
development in Western Province. The 
company also remains committed to 
protecting itself from outside interference 
and attacks on its independence, 
governance and integrity. 

Mekere Morauta, KCMG

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
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Let ter  f rom the Chai rman

PNG Sustainable Development Program Ltd 
Port Moresby, Papua New Guinea 

The Independent State of Papua New Guinea 
BHP Billiton Ltd 
Ok Tedi Mining Ltd 

In accordance with Clause 20 of the Company’s 
Program Rules under the Articles of Association 
of the PNG Sustainable Development Program 
Ltd, I submit to the Independent State of Papua 
New Guinea, BHP Billiton Ltd, and Ok Tedi 
Mining Ltd, the Annual Report 2015, covering the 
financial year ending 31 December 2015.

The Annual Report also includes the financial 
statements and the report of the Auditor.

Furthermore, in accordance with Clause 19.3 
of the Program Rules of the Company, the key 
elements of the Annual Report will be presented 
for discussion at the Annual Report Meeting of the 
Company, to commence at 2.00pm on Tuesday  
28 June, 2016 at the Holiday Inn, Cnr Waigani 
Drive and Wards Road, Waigani, Port Moresby.

Sincerely,

Mekere Morauta, KCMG 
Chairman, Board of Directors
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CEO’S MESSAGE

PNG Sustainable Development Program 
Ltd continues to operate on an extremely 
limited basis, with reduced functions 
and capacity brought about by the PNG 
Government’s illegal expropriation of 
Ok Tedi Mining Ltd in late 2013. The 
transition to this state from a large and fully 
functional non-government organization 
specializing in sustainable development is 
now complete.

The company’s operations are now 
confined to small offices in Port Moresby 
and Brisbane. Functionality is focused on 
managing the money in the Long Term 
Fund and other assets so that once the 
Ok Tedi mine is declared legally closed 
PNGSDP can resume its sustainable 
development program. PNGSDP is legally 
unable to spend the Long Term Fund until 
after mine closure is declared.

The Long Term Fund remains stable at 
$US1.3 billion ($US1.3 billion in 2014). 
This is a significant achievement at a time 
when the global investment environment 
is poor, and given the need to deal with 
constant pressure on the company from 
the Government of Papua New Guinea 
since expropriation. The company has 
reviewed the Long Term Fund investments 
this year and is actively seeking improved 
performance by its funds managers while 
avoiding exposure to an imprudent risk 
profile.

PNGSDP management continued to 
cut costs in 2015.  Governance costs 
including for directors’ fees, board 
administration, audit, and annual report/
annual result meetings fell by $US610,000 
to $US959,000. Administration costs were 
reduced substantially across categories 
including staff, professional services, travel, 
insurance, office rent, information services 
and media. In all, costs were reduced by 
$US8.4 million to $US5.3 million.

However the impacts of the PNG 
Government’s worsening domestic 
economic and financial performance 
more than offset the commendable work 
of company management. Pressure on 
the kina and PNG’s foreign reserves 
increased throughout the year, resulting in 
foreign exchange losses of approximately 
$US13.5million on domestic investments. 

PNGSDP continues to work on ways to 
overcome the impact of government on its 
assets and income. PNGSDP is continuing 
to look at reducing adverse external 
impacts on its domestic investments, and 
to realize the maximum value possible.

The company remains committed to 
Western Province, and is conducting 
long-term planning for ways in which the 
Long Term Fund can be spent after mine 
closure is declared. PNGSDP continues to 
consider how best to undertake its renewed 
development activities in Western Province, 
with a strong emphasis on rigorous project 
identification, cost-benefit analysis, 
efficient implementation and tighter project 
audit and acquittal processes.

For Western Province, the definition and 
declaration of mine closure is a critical issue 
and therefore PNGSDP is considering 
ways to effect a legal declaration as 
soon as possible to allow a resumption 
of sustainable development spending. 
Until these matters are resolved, and the 
court action that the company is engaged 
in successfully concludes, the spending 
impasse caused by the Government’s 
illegal expropriation will continue.

In the meantime, PNGSDP will continue 
to focus its attention on preserving and 
protecting its assets and income so that 
when sustainable development spending 
does resume, Western Province will 
receive the maximum benefit possible.

David Sode

OUR MISSION
PNGSDP promotes development that meets the 
needs of the present generation and establishes 
the foundation for continuing progress for future 
generations of Papua New Guineans.

OUR VALUES
We recognise the significant onus of trust, 
responsibility and challenge that has been placed 
upon PNGSDP.
We will be honest, fair and accountable in all our 
dealings, while promoting equality and efficiency in 
our conduct and activities.
We commit ourselves, through the activities of 
PNGSDP, to promote and improve the quality of life 
of current and future generations of the people of 

Papua New Guinea, especially of Western Province.

COMPANY 
BACKGROUND
Mandate
PNGSDP was created by the Mining (Ok Tedi Mine 
Continuation Ninth Supplemental Agreement) Act 
2001. The company has three main functions.
The first is to support and promote sustainable 
development through projects and initiatives to 
benefit the people of Papua New Guinea, especially 
the people of Western Province.
Another main function of PNGSDP as a substantial 
financial institution is the prudent and wise 
investment of the Long Term Fund and Development 
Fund, so the company can support a high level of 
development expenditure in Western Province (and 
Papua New Guinea in general).
From 2002 to September 2013, the company’s 
other substantive responsibility was as majority 
shareholder of Ok Tedi Mining Ltd. Through its 
representative on the board of OTML, PNGSDP 
sought to ensure sound commercial operations of 
OTML, responsible management of environmental 
and social issues, and to sustain the infrastructure 
established by OTML for broader social and 
economic development beyond mine closure.
The company’s shares in OTML were expropriated 
without compensation by the State in September 2013. 

Incorporation and governance 
framework
PNGSDP is incorporated in Singapore as a not-
for-profit company limited by guarantee, and is 
registered and operating in PNG as an overseas 
company.
It is governed by its constitution, which consists of 
the Memorandum and Articles of Association and the 
Program Rules.
An independent board, consisting of Papua New 
Guinean and international directors, controls and 
manages the affairs of PNGSDP and reports to PNG 
stakeholders annually.
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Funds Management 
 
The Long Term Fund represents two thirds of the cumulative dividends which PNGSDP received from OTML over the years and invested 
into the fund after deducting operating expenses and other legal contractual obligations as specified in the Company’s Program Rules 
relating to the application of the income received. 

The Investment and Finance Committee of the Board of Directors oversees the management of the Long Term Fund in accordance with 
the Company’s Investment Policy and Guidelines. These policies and guidelines are administered to ensure that the investment objectives 
of the company are met whilst complying with the Company’s Program Rules. 

In 2015 six professional investment management firms continued to manage the assets in the Long Term Fund (excluding assets 
domiciled in Papua New Guinea) on a discretionary basis in line with investment mandates issued by the Board.  

The Long Term Fund has remained stable at US$1.3 billion. Given the loss of OTML dividends which provided a historical source of 
income and the long term decline in interest rates the Board initiated a thorough review of the Company’s investment strategy with a view 
to improve the performance of the fund in terms of investment returns and risk management. 

The Board is continuing its efforts to divest PNG assets in recognition of the currency risk posed by the PNG Kina which contributed a 
foreign exchange loss of US$13.5 million in 2015. 

Below is a graphical presentation of the growth in the Long Term Fund since 2003:  
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Funds Management

The Long Term Fund represents two thirds of the cumulative dividends which PNGSDP received from OTML over the years and invested 
into the fund after deducting operating expenses and other legal contractual obligations as specified in the Company’s Program Rules 
relating to the application of the income received.

The Investment and Finance Committee of the Board of Directors oversees the management of the Long Term Fund in accordance with 
the Company’s Investment Policy and Guidelines. These policies and guidelines are administered to ensure that the investment objectives 
of the company are met whilst complying with the Company’s Program Rules.

In 2015 six professional investment management firms continued to manage the assets in the Long Term Fund (excluding assets domiciled 
in Papua New Guinea) on a discretionary basis in line with investment mandates issued by the Board. 

The Long Term Fund has remained stable at US$1.3 billion. Given the loss of OTML dividends which provided a historical source of income 
and the long term decline in interest rates the Board initiated a thorough review of the Company’s investment strategy with a view to 
improve the performance of the fund in terms of investment returns and risk management.

The Board is continuing its efforts to divest PNG assets in recognition of the currency risk posed by the PNG Kina which contributed a 
foreign exchange loss of US$13.5 million in 2015.

Below is a graphical presentation of the growth in the Long Term Fund since 2003: 
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The allocation of investments as at the end of the year was as follows: 

 

Asset Description 
2015 2014 

USD Millions Percent USD Millions Percent 
Fund managed assets         
Cash & short term investments 120.4 9.1% 143.5 10.8% 
Bonds 847.9 64.3% 803.1 60.6% 
Equities 135.2 10.3% 129.4 9.8% 
Other assets 8.4 0.7% 11.2 0.9% 
Subtotal 1,111.9 84.4% 1,087.2 82.0% 
In house managed PNG 
assets 

        

Cash & short term investments 43.7 3.3% 34.4 2.6% 
Equity investments 87.8 6.6% 120.2 6.4% 
Receivables 74.9 5.8% 85.1 2.6% 
Subtotal 206.4 15.7% 239.7 18.1% 
Other assets & liabilities (net) (0.5) (0.1%) (1.6) (0.1%) 
Net assets        1,317.8   100%    1,325.3   100% 
 
PNGSDP maintains a significant portion (64.3%) of its investments in fixed income securities and as such there is a strong emphasis on 
their quality as reflected by each security’s underlying credit rating. The Company’s guidelines require sovereign and corporate bonds 
included in the portfolio to have a minimum “A” rating by Standard and Poor's or similar rating by Moody's. 

At the discretion of the Board fixed income securities rated BBB or lower are permitted. The ratings of bonds held in the portfolio at the 
year-end were as follows: 

 
  2015 2014 
Asset class rating USD Millions Percent USD Millions Percent 
Bonds - AAA 150.5 11.4% 175.3 13.2% 
Bonds - AA 561.4 42.6% 516.0 38.9% 
Bonds -A 92.3 7.0% 73.2 5.5% 
 Bonds - BBB 5.9 4.4% 16.1 1.4% 
Unrated 37.9 1.1% 22.5 1.6% 
Total bonds 847.9 64.3% 803.1 60.6% 
Other assets & liabilities(net) 469.9 35.7% 522.2 39.4% 
Total assets 1,317.8 100% 1,325.3 100% 
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The allocation of investments as at the end of the year was as follows:

PNGSDP maintains a significant portion (64.3%) of its investments in fixed income securities and as such there is a strong emphasis on 
their quality as reflected by each security’s underlying credit rating. The Company’s guidelines require sovereign and corporate bonds 
included in the portfolio to have a minimum “A” rating by Standard and Poor’s or similar rating by Moody’s.

At the discretion of the Board fixed income securities rated BBB or lower are permitted. The ratings of bonds held in the portfolio at the 
year-end were as follows:
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Financial Performance 
 
Income and expenses 
The decrease in investment income is reflective of the continuing downward trend in interest rates in global markets due to the 
accommodating monetary policies many governments have adopted as an economic stimulus. 

The impact of US$13.5 million (2013: US$ 3.9 million) in foreign exchange losses on PNG domiciled assets from the devaluation of the 
PNG Kina against the US dollar resulted in a reduction to net investment income from US$16.1 million in 2014 to US$4.6 million. 

Fair value losses on fund managed investments also reflect the pervasive impact of global market conditions had on the valuation of 
assets in the PNGSDP portfolio. 

 
  2015 2014 
Income  USD PNG Kina USD PNG Kina 
  Millions Millions Millions Millions 
Investment income 23.2 64.5 26.6 68.9 
Foreign exchange losses (13.5) (37.5) (3.9) (10.1) 
Fair value losses (5.1) (14.2) (6.6) (17.1) 
Net income 4.6 12.8 16.1 41.7 

 
 

  2015 2014 
Expenses USD PNG Kina USD PNG Kina 
  Millions Millions Millions Millions 
Governance costs 1.0   2.8 1.6 4.1 
Administration costs 5.3   14.7 13.8 35.7 
Investment program costs 3.2 8.9 2.5 6.5 
Development costs - - 2.2 5.7 
Other expenses 1.2 3.3 0.4 1.0 
Total expenses 10.7 29.7 20.5 53.0 

 
The Board’s strong focus on cost management through its Cost Management Subcommittee is credited for the 48% reduction in expenses 
from US$20.5 million in 2014 to US$10.7 million in 2015.  

Administrative costs were tightly monitored and reduced by 63% from $US14.2 million in 2014 to US$5.3 million in line with the current 
scale of operations and cessation of development programs. 

Governance costs declined due to a renegotiation of audit fees and targeted reduction in directors’ travel and Board related costs. Aligned 
with its commitment to manage costs the Board also elected not to increase directors’ fees since taking a 10% reduction in 2013. 

Investment program costs increased slightly after factoring additional investment advisory fees incurred when developing the new 
investment strategy. These costs will be recouped over the medium as benefits from the new investment strategy are realised. 

Other expenses represent foreign exchange revaluation losses on PNG Kina denominated working capital assets on the balance sheet 
(excluding investments). The foreign exchange losses are consistent with the devaluation of the PNG Kina against the US dollar during 
the year. 

In accordance with the Program Rules a yearly budget of administration costs is required to be approved by the Board of Directors. The 
Program Rules set the expenditure limit at 15 percent of the average annual income of the Company during the immediate preceding 
three years. Expenses attributable to the operation of the Company are within the 2015 budget and the expenditure limit set in the 
Program Rules. 
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Net assets 
The net assets of the company have remained steady at US$1.318 billion (K3.964 billion) [2014: $US1.325 
billion (K3.438 billion)]. In accordance with the Rules of PNGSDP, the assets of the Program Company are 
represented by the Members’ Subscription, the Long Term Fund, the Development Fund and the General Fund 
as presented in the table below: 
 
Net assets of PNGSDP in 2015 

  2015 2014 
Asset class USD PNG Kina USD PNG Kina 
 Millions Millions Millions Millions 
Current assets  322.8  970.8   419.8   1,089.0  
Non-current assets  995.5   2,994.3   907.3   2,353.6  
Liabilities (0.5) (1.5) (1.8) (4.8) 
Net Assets 1,317.8  3,963.6  1,325.3  3,437.8  

 
Representation of PNGSDP’s net assets in 2015 

  2015 2014 
Representation of assets USD PNG Kina USD PNG Kina 
  Millions Millions Millions Millions 
General Fund  -     -     -     -    
Long Term Fund  1,294.8  3,894.1   1,299.7   3,371.4  
Development Fund  23.0   69.5   25.6   66.4  
Total Funds 1,317.8 3,963.6 1,325.3 3,437.8 

 
1. Subsidiaries 
The remaining active subsidiaries of the Group are PNG Microfinance Ltd and Champion 34 Ltd.  
Champion 34 Ltd holds investments in PNG and these continue to perform in accordance with their underlying 
contractual arrangements. 
PNG Microfinance Ltd had modest performance for 2015 with a loss of K1.5million (K0.5 million loss in 2014). 
Key performance highlights for PNG Microfinance for 2015 are as follows: 

• Deposits outstanding declined by 17.5% to K53.68 million (K65.04 million at end FY14) with 65,498 
accounts (79,567 at end FY14) 

• Western Province branches had outstanding deposits of K6.50 million with 13,689 accounts (K19.14 
million with 26,809 accounts in 2014), which account for 21% share of total deposits. 

• Loans outstanding increased 6.5% to reach K40.93 million (K38.44 million at end FY14), with 3,223 
customers (3,538 accounts at end FY14). 

• Western Province branches loans outstanding were K1.93 million with 229 accounts. This accounts for 
5% share of PML total loan portfolio.  (K2.43 with 315 accounts at end FY14 and accounts for 6% share 
of loan portfolio). 

• Net shareholders’ funds at year end declined by 14.6% to K8.90 million compared with K10.42 million at 
end FY14. 

Considering the financial and operational viability of each branch location, PNG Microfinance discontinued its 
operations in 3 service centers (Balimo, Obo and Lake Murray) in Western province as approved by the Board 
and BPNG. Almost 5000 accounts were closed or transferred to other locations as requested by customers. The 
process started in August and was completed by October 2015.  PNG Microfinance is continuing its operations in 
3 other Western Province locations namely Kiunga, Tabubil and Daru. 
 
PNG Microfinance remains compliant with all BPNG Requirements.  
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in 2014), which account for 21% share of total deposits.

• Loans outstanding increased 6.5% to reach K40.93 million (K38.44 million at end FY14), with 3,223 customers (3,538 accounts 
at end FY14).

• Western Province branches loans outstanding were K1.93 million with 229 accounts. This accounts for 5% share of PML total 
loan portfolio.  (K2.43million with 315 accounts at end FY14 and accounts for 6% share of loan portfolio).

• Net shareholders’ funds at year end declined by 14.6% to K8.90 million compared with K10.42 million at end FY14.

Considering the financial and operational viability of each branch location, PNG Microfinance discontinued its operations in 3 service 
centers (Balimo, Obo and Lake Murray) in Western province as approved by the Board and BPNG. Almost 5000 accounts were closed 
or transferred to other locations as requested by customers. The process started in August and was completed by October 2015.  PNG 
Microfinance is continuing its operations in 3 other Western Province locations namely Kiunga, Tabubil and Daru.

PNG Microfinance remains compliant with all BPNG Requirements
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PNG SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT PROGRAM LIMITED 
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 

DIRECTORS’ STATEMENT 
For the financial year ended 31 December 2015 
 
 

 
 

1 

The directors present their report to the members together with the audited financial 
statements of the Group for the financial year ended 31 December 2015 and the balance 
sheet as at 31 December 2015, the statement of comprehensive income and the statement of 
changes in equity of the company for the financial year ended 31 December 2015. 
 
In the opinion of the directors,  
 
(a) the statement of comprehensive income, balance sheet and statement of changes in 

equity of the Company and the consolidated financial statements of the Group as set 
out on pages 5 to 78 are drawn up so as to give a true and fair view of the financial 
position of the Company and of the Group as at 31 December 2015 and of the 
financial performance and changes in equity of the Company and of the Group and 
cash flows of the Group for the financial year then ended; and 

 
(b) at the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the 

Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they fall due. 
 
 
Directors 
 
The directors of the Company in office at the date of this report are as follows: 
 
Sir Mekere Morauta   
Donald Wabirao Manoa  
Lim How Teck    
Rex Lam Paki     
Philip James Bainbridge    
David Sode    
Modowa Trevor Gumoi   
Sir Wilson Kamit CBE   

 
 

Arrangements to enable directors to acquire shares and debentures 
 
Neither at the end of nor at any time during the financial year was the Company a party to any 
arrangement whose object was to enable the directors of the Company to acquire benefits by 
means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body 
corporate. 
 
 
Directors’ interests in shares, debentures and share options 
 
The Company is limited by guarantee and has no share capital, debentures, share options or 
unissued shares. None of the directors holding office at the end of the financial year had any 
interest in the shares, debentures or share options of any related corporations.  
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF  
PNG SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT PROGRAM LIMITED 

 
 
Report on the Financial Statements 
 
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of PNG Sustainable Development 
Program Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 5 to 78, 
which comprise the balance sheets of the Company and of the Group as at 31 December 2015, 
and the statement of comprehensive income of the Company and of the Group, the statement of 
changes in equity of the Company and of the Group, and the consolidated statement of cash flows 
of the Group for the financial year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies 
and other explanatory information. 
 
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view 
in accordance with the provisions of the Singapore Companies Act (the “Act”) and Singapore 
Financial Reporting Standards, and for devising and maintaining a system of internal accounting 
controls sufficient to provide a reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded against loss 
from unauthorised use or disposition; and transactions are properly authorised and that  they are 
recorded as necessary to permit the preparation of true and fair financial statements  and to 
maintain accountability of assets. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibility 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We 
conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing.  Those standards 
require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance as to whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.   
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 
judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers 
internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair 
view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also 
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the 
financial statements. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our audit opinion. 
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PNG SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT PROGRAM LIMITED 
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
  
STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
For the financial year ended 31 December 2015 
 
 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.  
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  The Group The Company 

Continuing operations 
 

Note 
2015 
US$ 

2014 
US$  

2015 
US$ 

2014 
US$ 

       
Revenue       
Investment income 4 23,659,231 27,102,958  23,244,847 26,613,679 
Revenue from other activities, net 4 11,468,953 11,510,088  - - 
  35,128,184 38,613,046  23,244,847 26,613,679 
Expenses       
Other investment losses 5 (18,582,396) (10,496,228)  (18,582,396) (10,496,228) 
Governance costs 5 (1,134,030) (1,754,052)  (959,686) (1,569,460) 
Administration costs 5 (12,572,142) (20,252,040)  (5,336,352) (13,829,971) 
Fund management costs 5 (3,204,326) (2,470,187)  (3,204,326) (2,470,187) 
  (35,492,894) (34,972,507)  (28,082,760) (28,365,846) 
Operating (deficit)/surplus before 
development program costs  (364,710) 3,640,539 

 
(4,837,913) (1,752,167) 

       
Development program costs 5 - (2,167,757)  - (2,167,757) 
       
Operating (deficit)/surplus 
 from operations  (364,710) 1,472,782 

 
(4,837,913) (3,919,924) 

       
Other (losses)/gains - net 5 (8,241,466) 10,387,096  (1,222,131) (423,653) 
Share of results of joint ventures 13 (1,219,884) -  - - 
       
(Deficit)/surplus before income tax  (9,826,060) 11,859,878  (6,060,044) (4,343,577) 
       
Income tax expense  7 (3,402,428) (6,999,782)  (1,396,248) (1,426,582) 
       
(Deficit)/surplus from operations  (13,228,488) 4,860,096  (7,456,292) (5,770,159) 
       
Other comprehensive deficit:       
Currency translation difference arising from 

consolidation       
- Reclassification  - (9,320,613)  - - 
- Gains  (2,485,979) 396,537  - - 

  (2,485,979) (8,924,076)  - - 
       
Total comprehensive deficit:  (15,714,467) (4,063,980)  (7,456,292) (5,770,159) 
       
 (Deficit)/surplus from operations  
  attributable to:       
Equity holders of the Company  (13,124,467) 4,935,436  (7,456,292) (5,770,159) 
Non-controlling interests  (104,021) (75,340)  - - 
  (13,228,488) 4,860,096  (7,456,292) (5,770,159) 
       
Total comprehensive deficit attributable 
to:        

Equity holders of the Company  (15,617,011) (3,963,670)  (7,456,292) (5,770,159) 
Non-controlling interests  (97,456) (100,310)  - - 
  (15,714,467) (4,063,980)  (7,456,292) (5,770,159) 
 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
  
BALANCE SHEETS 
As at 31 December 2015 
 
 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.  
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  The Group The Company 

 
 

Note 
2015 
US$ 

2014 
US$  

2015 
US$ 

2014 
US$ 

       
ASSETS       
Current assets       
Cash and cash equivalents 9 167,850,858 181,818,922  164,115,684 177,853,289 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or 

loss 10 
 

89,111,999 
 

168,813,371  83,715,662 156,892,472 
Finance lease receivables 11    8,116,369   7,574,178  - - 
Other receivables 12 13,449,156 16,146,778  74,905,690 85,056,035 
  278,528,382 374,353,249  322,737,036 419,801,796 
       
Non-current assets       
Financial assets at fair value through profit or 

loss 10 
 

995,435,375 
 

907,055,318  
 

995,435,375 
 

907,055,318 
Finance lease receivables 11 9,044,178 15,213,332  - - 
Other receivables 12 44,887,500 52,491,823  - - 
Investment in joint ventures 13 5,522,676 9,330,000  - - 
Investment in subsidiaries 14 - -  2 1 
Property, plant and equipment 15 200,808 200,808  200,808 200,808 
  1,055,090,537 984,291,281  995,636,185 907,256,127 
Total assets  1,333,618,919 1,358,644,530  1,318,373,221 1,327,057,923 
       
LIABILITIES        
Current liabilities       
Sundry creditors and accruals 16 20,295,948 28,179,250  537,580 1,765,990 
Provisions for employee leave  286,384 258,709  - - 
Current income tax liability 7 1,491,505 2,806,442  - - 
  22,073,837 31,244,401  537,580 1,765,990 
       
Non-current liabilities       
Deferred income tax liability 17 1,726,111 1,866,691  - - 
       
Total liabilities  23,799,948 33,111,092  537,580 1,765,990 
       
NET ASSETS  1,309,818,971 1,325,533,438  1,317,835,641 1,325,291,933 
       
CAPITAL EMPLOYED AND RESERVES       
Members’ subscriptions 18 17 17  17 17 
Funds, comprises of:  1,303,539,522 1,316,663,989    
- General Fund 19 - -  - - 
- Long Term Fund 19 - -  1,294,853,618 1,299,677,925 
- Development Fund 19 - -  22,982,006 25,613,991 
Foreign currency translation reserve  5,806,189 8,298,733  - - 
  1,309,345,728 1,324,962,739  1,317,835,641 1,325,291,933 
Non-controlling interests  473,243 570,699  - - 
Total equity  1,309,818,971 1,325,533,438  1,317,835,641 1,325,291,933 
 
 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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PNG SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT PROGRAM LIMITED 
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
  
COMPANY STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
For the financial year ended 31 December 2015 
 
 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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The Company 
 

Note 
Members’ 
subscriptions 

General 
fund 

Long term 
fund 

Development 
fund Total 

  US$ US$ US$ US$ US$ 
2015       
Beginning of financial year 18 17 - 1,299,677,925 25,613,991 1,325,291,933 
Total comprehensive 
(deficit)/surplus  

 
19 - 

 
(7,508,005) 

 
181,029 

 
(129,316) 

 
(7,456,292) 

Transfers between Funds 
 

19 - 
 

7,508,005 
 

(5,005,336) 
 

(2,502,669) - 
End of financial year  17 - 1,294,853,618 22,982,006 1,317,835,641 

       
       
2014       
Beginning of financial year 18 17 - 1,295,953,733 35,108,342 1,331,062,092 
Total comprehensive 

(deficit)/surplus  
 

19 - 
 

(15,730,080) 
 

10,429,239 
 

(469,318) 
 

(5,770,159) 
Transfers between Funds 19 - 15,730,080 (6,705,047) (9,025,033) - 
End of financial year  17 - 1,299,677,925 25,613,991 1,325,291,933 

 
The allocation of revenues and expenses and transfers from the General Fund to the Long 
Term Fund and the Development Fund are determined in accordance with the rules of the 
Company (refer Note 2.1.14). 
 
 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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PNG SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT PROGRAM LIMITED 
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW 
For the financial year ended 31 December 2015 
 
 

 
 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.  
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  2015 2014 
 Note US$ US$ 
    
Cash flows from operating activities    
(Deficit)/surplus from operations  (13,228,488) 4,860,096 
Adjustments for:    
 Income tax expense  3,402,428 6,999,782 
 Depreciation and impairment losses  -  162,257  
 Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment  -  3,842,641  
 Fair value loss on financial assets at fair value  
   through profit or loss  

 
18,582,396 

 
 10,496,228 

 Interest income   (15,194,200)  (18,594,671) 
Share of loss on investment in joint ventures  1,219,883 - 

   Currency translation differences  (708,205) (8,924,075) 
Operating cash flow before working capital changes  (5,926,186) (1,157,742) 
    
Change in working capital    
 Other receivables and  finance lease receivables   15,928,908 4,339,315 
 Sundry creditors and accruals  (9,114,759) (7,853,691) 
 Inventory  - 2,824,944 
Cash generated from/(used in) operations  887,963 (1,847,174) 
Interest received  15,194,200 18,594,671 
Withholding and other taxes paid  (2,789,147) (1,812,354) 
Purchases of financial assets at fair value through profit and loss  (1,193,696,660) (959,438,208) 
Proceeds from sale of financial assets at fair value through  
 profit or loss  1,166,435,580 978,218,826 

    
Net cash provided by operating activities  (13,968,064) 33,715,761 
    
Cash flows from investing activities    
Disposal of a subsidiary 24 - 5,110,129 
Net cash (used in)/provided byinvesting activities  - 5,110,129 
    
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents  (13,968,064) 38,825,890 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of financial year 9  181,818,922  142,993,032  
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of financial year 9  167,850,858   181,818,922  

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.
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These notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with the accompanying 
financial statements. 
 
1. General information 
 

PNG Sustainable Development Program Limited (“PNGSDP” or the “Company”) is 
incorporated and domiciled in Singapore. The address of its principal place of 
business is Level 1, PML Office, along Hubert Murray Highway, Koki, PO Box 1786, 
Port Moresby, Papua New Guinea. The address of its registered office is 10 Collyer 
Quay, #10-01 Ocean Financial Centre, Singapore 049315. 

 
The principal activity of the Company is to promote sustainable development within 
Papua New Guinea, and advance the general welfare of the people of Papua New 
Guinea, particularly those of the Western Province of Papua New Guinea, through 
supporting programs and projects in the areas of capacity building, health, education, 
economic development, infrastructure, community self-reliance, local community 
leadership and institutional capacity and other social and environmental purposes for 
the benefit of those people. 
 
The principal activities of the subsidiaries are stated in Note 14. 
 
 

2.1 Significant accounting policies 
 
2.1.1 Basis of preparation 

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Singapore 
Financial Reporting Standards (“FRS”). The principal accounting policies applied in 
the preparation of these financial statements are set out below. These policies have 
been consistently applied to all years presented. The financial statements have been 
prepared under the historical cost convention, except as disclosed in the accounting 
policies below.  
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with FRS requires management 
to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies. It 
also requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates and assumptions. The 
areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where 
assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements are disclosed in 
Note 3. 
As disclosed in Notes 3.1(e), 13 and 21(b) the Company is in dispute with the 
Government of Papua New Guinea (“PNG Government”) in relation to the ownership 
of the investment in Ok Tedi Mining Limited and the future control over the assets of 
the Company. The Company has instituted proceedings in relation to the expropriation 
of its shares in OK Tedi Mining Limited and is vigorously defending the actions 
brought against it by the PNG Government. The outcome of these matters could have 
a significant impact on the future operations and financial position of the Company. 
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2.1 Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
2.1.1 Basis of preparation (continued) 

The Company has restructured its operations and reduced its ongoing administration 
expenditure to ensure it continues to operate in accordance with the Program Rules. 
These financial statements are prepared on the basis that the Company retains its 
control over the recorded assets of the Company at balance sheet date and continues 
to manage those assets in accordance with the Program Rules for the foreseeable 
future.   
 
Interpretations and amendments to published standards effective in 2015 
 
On 1 January 2015, the Group adopted the new or amended FRS and Interpretations 
of FRS (“INT FRS”) that are mandatory for application for the financial year. Changes 
to the Group’s accounting policies have been made as required, in accordance with 
the transitional provisions in the respective FRS and INT FRS.  
The adoption of these new or amended FRS and INT FRS did not result in substantial 
changes to the accounting policies of the Group and the Company and had no 
material effect on the amounts reported for the current or prior financial years. 

 
2.1.2 Revenue recognition 

 
Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for the 
sale of goods and rendering of services in the ordinary course of the Group and 
Company activities. Revenue is presented, net of value-added tax, rebates and 
discounts, and after eliminating sales within the Group. 
 
The Group and the Company recognises revenue when the amount of revenue and 
related cost can be reliably measured when it is probable that the collectability of 
related receivables is reasonably assured and when specific criteria for each of the 
Group and Company activities are met as follows. 
 
(a) Dividend income 
 

Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment is 
established. 
 

(b) Interest income 
  

Interest income, including income arising from finance leases and other 
financial instruments, is recognised using the effective interest method. 
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2.1 Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
2.1.2 Revenue recognition (continued) 

 
(c) Other gains 

 
On sale of a financial asset, the difference between the net sale proceeds and 
its carrying amount is taken to the profit or loss. Gains arising from changes in 
fair value of investment in securities (Note 2.1.16) that have been designated 
as “Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss” are included in 
revenue in other gains/losses from investments in the financial year in which 
the changes in fair value arise. 
 

 (d) Sale of timber products 
 

The Group previously harvested, milled and sold timber products. Sales of 
goods are recognised when the Group has delivered the product to the 
customers, the customers have accepted the product and the collectability of 
the related receivables is reasonably assured. 

 
 (e) Rental income 
 
  The Group recognises rental income  on an accrual basis. 
 
2.1.3 Group accounting 
 

(a) Subsidiaries  
 
(i)  Consolidation 

 
 Subsidiaries are entities (including special purpose entities) over which 

the Group has power to govern the financial and operating policies so 
as to obtain benefits from its activities, generally accompanied by a 
shareholding giving rise to a majority of the voting rights. The 
existence and effect of potential voting rights that are currently 
exercisable or convertible are considered when assessing whether the 
Group controls another entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the 
date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are de-
consolidated from the date on which control ceases. 

 
 In preparing the consolidated financial statements, transactions, 

balances and unrealised gains on transactions between group entities 
are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated but are 
considered an impairment indicator of the asset transferred. 
Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where 
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the 
Group. 
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2.1 Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
2.1.3 Group accounting (contined) 
 

(a) Subsidiaries (continued) 
 

(i)  Consolidation (continued) 
 

Non-controlling interests are that part of the net results of operations 
and of net assets of a subsidiary attributable to the interests which are 
not owned directly or indirectly by the equity holders of the Company. 
They are shown separately in the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and balance 
sheet. Total comprehensive income is attributed to the non-controlling 
interests based on their respective interests in a subsidiary, even if this 
results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. 

 
(ii)  Acquisition of businesses 
 

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for business 
combinations by the Group. 

 
The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary 
comprises the fair value of the assets transferred, the liabilities 
incurred and the equity interests issued by the Group. The 
consideration transferred also includes the fair value of any contingent 
consideration arrangement and the fair value of any pre-existing equity 
interest in the subsidiary.  

 
Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred. 

 
Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities 
assumed in a business combination are, with limited exceptions, 
measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. 

 
On an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, the Group recognises any non-
controlling interest in the acquiree at the date of acquisition either at 
fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the 
acquiree’s net identifiable assets. 

 
The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interest in the acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value of 
any previous equity interest in the acquiree over the fair value of the 
net identifiable assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. Please refer to 
Note 2.1.6(a) for the subsequent accounting policy on goodwill. 
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2.1 Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
2.1.3 Group accounting (continued) 
 

(a) Subsidiaries (continued) 
 

 (iii)  Disposals of subsidiaries or businesses 
 
When a change in the Company’s ownership interest in a subsidiary 
results in a loss of control over the subsidiary, the assets and liabilities 
of the subsidiary including any goodwill are derecognised. Amounts 
recognised in other comprehensive income in respect of that entity are 
also reclassified to profit or loss or transferred directly to retained 
earnings if required by a specific Standard. 

 
Any retained interest in the entity is remeasured at fair value. The 
difference between the carrying amount of the retained investment at 
the date when control is lost and its fair value is recognised in profit or 
loss. 

 
Please refer to Note 2.1.4 for the accounting policy on investments in 
subsidiaries. 
 

(b) Transactions with non-controlling interests  
 
Changes in the Company’s ownership interest in a subsidiary that do not 
result in a loss of control over the subsidiary are accounted for as transactions 
with equity owners of the Group. Any difference between the change in the 
carrying amounts of the non-controlling interest and the fair value of the 
consideration paid or received is recognised in a separate reserve within 
equity attributable to the equity holders of the Company. 

 
(c) Joint ventures 

 
The Group’s joint ventures are entities over which the Group has joint control 
and has rights to the net assets of the entities.  The Group’s interest in joint 
ventures is accounted for in the consolidated financial statements using the 
equity method of accounting. 
Equity accounting involves recording investments in joint ventures initially at 
cost, and recognising the Group’s share of its joint venture post-acquisition 
results and its share of post-acquisition movements in reserves against the 
carrying amount of the investments. When the Group’s share of losses in a 
joint venture equals or exceeds its investment in the joint venture, the Group 
does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made 
payments on behalf of the joint ventures. 
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2.1 Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
2.1.3 Group accounting (continued) 
 

(c)  Joint ventures (continued) 
 

In applying the equity method of accounting, unrealised gains on transactions 
between the Group and its joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of the 
Group's interest in the joint ventures.  Unrealised losses are also eliminated 
unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the assets 
transferred.  
 
When the Group sells assets to a joint venture, the Group recognises only the 
portion of unrealised gains or losses on the sale of assets that is attributable to 
the interest of the other venturers. The Group recognises the amount of any 
loss when the sales provide evidence of a reduction in the net realisable value 
of current assets or an impairment loss. 
When the Group purchases assets from a joint venture, it does not recognise 
its share of the profits of the joint ventures arising from the Group’s purchase 
of assets until it resells the assets to an independent party. However, a loss on 
the transaction is recognised immediately if the loss provides evidence of a 
reduction in the net realisable value of current assets or an impairment loss. 
Accounting policies of joint ventures have been changed where necessary to 
ensure consistency with the accounting policies adopted by the Group.  
Please refer to Note 2.1.4 “Investments in subsidiaries and joint venture” for 
the accounting policy on investments in joint ventures. 

 
2.1.4 Investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures 
 

Investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures are carried at cost, less accumulated 
impairment losses in the Company’s balance sheet. On disposal of investments in 
subsidiaries, joint ventures and associated companies, the difference between 
disposal proceeds and the carrying amounts of the investments are recognised in 
profit or loss. 
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2.1 Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
2.1.5 Property, plant and equipment  
 

(a) Measurement 
 

 (i) Land and buildings 
 
 Land and buildings are initially recognised at cost. Buildings and 

leasehold land are subsequently carried at their costs less 
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. 

 
(ii) Other property, plant and equipment  

 
 All other items of property, plant and equipment are initially recognised 

at cost and subsequently carried at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.   

 
 (iii) Components of costs 
  

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment initially 
recognised includes its purchase price and any cost that is directly 
attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition 
necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by 
management.  

 
(b) Depreciation 

 
Depreciation on plant and equipment is calculated using a straight line method 
to allocate their depreciable amounts of plant and equipment over their 
estimated useful lives. The annual rates used for this purpose are as follows: 
 

        Annual Rates % 
 Computers and computer software    331/3  - 100 
 Motor vehicles   20 
 Fixtures and fittings   331/3 
 Plant and equipment   331/3 

 Leasehold improvements   331/3 
Buildings   2 
Leasehold land    Nil 
 

  



ANNUAL REPORT 2015 | PAGE 17

PNG SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT PROGRAM LIMITED 
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the financial year ended 31 December 2015 
 
 

 
 

17 

2.1 Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
2.1.5 Property, plant and equipment (continued) 
 

(b) Depreciation (continued) 
 
The residual values, estimated useful lives and depreciation method of 
property, plant and equipment are reviewed, and adjusted as appropriate, at 
each balance sheet date.  The effects of any revision are recognised in the 
profit or loss when the changes arise. 

 
(c) Subsequent expenditure 

 
Subsequent expenditure relating to property, plant and equipment that has 
already been recognised is added to the carrying amount of the asset only 
when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will 
flow to the Group and the Company and the cost of the item can be measured 
reliably. Repair and maintenance expense are recognised in profit or loss 
when incurred. 

  
(d) Disposal 

 
On disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment, the difference 
between the disposal proceeds and its carrying amount is taken to profit or 
loss.  

 
2.1.6 Intangible assets 

 
(a) Goodwill on acquisitions 
 

 Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the fair value 
of the Group’s share of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent 
liabilities of the acquired subsidiaries, joint ventures and associated 
companies at the date of acquisition.   

 
 Goodwill on subsidiaries is recognised separately as intangible assets and 

carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses.  Goodwill on joint 
ventures and associated companies are included in the carrying amount of the 
investments. 

 
 Gains and losses on the disposal of subsidiaries, joint ventures and 

associated companies include the carrying amount of goodwill relating to the 
entity sold, except for goodwill arising from acquisitions prior to 1 January 
2001. Such goodwill was adjusted against retained earnings in the year of 
acquisition and not recognised in profit or loss on disposal. 
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2.1 Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
2.1.6 Intangible assets (continued) 
 
 (b)  Acquired licenses 
 
  Licenses acquired are initially recognised at cost and are subsequently carried 

at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. 
These costs are amortised to profit or loss using the straight-line method over 
the shorter of the estimated useful lives or period of contractual rights. 

 
2.1.7 Impairment of non-financial assets 
 
 (a) Goodwill 
 

 Goodwill is tested for impairment annually and whenever there is indication 
that the goodwill may be impaired. Goodwill included in the carrying amount of 
an investment in an associated company or joint venture is tested for 
impairment as part of the investment, rather than separately.  

 
 For the purpose of impairment testing of goodwill, goodwill is allocated to each 

of the Group’s cash-generating-units (“CGU”) expected to benefit from 
synergies arising from the business combination. 
 
An impairment loss is recognised when the carrying amount of a CGU, 
including the goodwill, exceeds the recoverable amount of the CGU.  The 
recoverable amount of a CGU is the higher of the CGU’s fair value less cost to 
sell and value-in-use.  

 
The total impairment loss of a CGU is allocated first to reduce the carrying 
amount of goodwill allocated to the CGU and then to the other assets of the 
CGU pro-rata on the basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the CGU. 
 

 An impairment loss on goodwill is recognised in profit or loss and is not 
reversed in subsequent periods. 
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2.1 Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
2.1.7 Impairment of non-financial assets (continued) 

 
 (b) Intangible assets 

  Property, plant and equipment 
 Investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures   

 
Intangible assets, property, plant and equipment and investments in 
subsidiaries and joint ventures are tested for impairment whenever there is 
any objective evidence or indication that these assets may be impaired. 
 
For the purpose of impairment testing the recoverable amount (i.e. the higher 
of the fair value less cost to sell and the value-in-use) is determined on an 
individual asset basis unless the asset does not generate cash flows that are 
largely independent of those from other assets. If this is the case, recoverable 
amount is determined for the CGU to which the asset belongs. 

 
If the recoverable amount of the asset (or CGU) is estimated to be less than 
its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or CGU) is reduced to 
its recoverable amount. 
 
The difference between the carrying amount and recoverable amount is 
recognised as an impairment loss in profit or loss, unless the asset is carried 
at revalued amount, in which case, such impairment loss is treated as a 
revaluation decrease. 
 
An impairment loss for an asset other than goodwill is reversed if, and only if, 
there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the assets’ 
recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. The 
carrying amount of an asset other than goodwill is increased to its revised 
recoverable amount, provided that this amount does not exceed the carrying 
amount that would have been determined (net of amortisation or depreciation) 
had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years.  

 
A reversal of impairment loss for an asset other than goodwill is recognised in 
profit or loss, unless the asset is carried at revalued amount, in which case, 
such reversal is treated as a revaluation increase.  However, to the extent that 
an impairment loss on the same revalued asset was previously recognised in 
profit or loss, a reversal of that impairment is also recognised in profit or loss. 
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2.1 Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
2.1.8 Leases 
 

(a) When the Group is the lessee: 
 
 (i)    Lessee - Finance leases 
 
 Leases where the Group assumes substantially all risks and rewards 

incidental to ownership of the leased assets are classified as finance 
leases.   

 
 The leased assets and the corresponding lease liabilities (net of 

finance charges) under finance leases are recognised on the balance 
sheet as plant and equipment and borrowings respectively, at the 
inception of the leases based on the lower of the fair value of the 
leased assets and the present value of the minimum lease payments.   

 
 Each lease payment is apportioned between the finance expense and 

the reduction of the outstanding lease liability.  The finance expense is 
recognised in the profit or loss on a basis that reflects a constant 
periodic rate of interest on the finance lease liability.     

 
  (ii)    Lessee - Operating leases 
 

 Leases of motor vehicles, office space and warehouses where 
substantially all risks and rewards incidental to ownership are retained 
by the lessors are classified as operating leases.  Payments made 
under operating leases (net of any incentives received from the 
lessors) are recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over 
the period of the lease. 

 
 Contingent rents are recognised as an expense in profit or loss when 

incurred.  
 
(b) When the Group is the lessor: 
 
 Lessor - Finance leases 
 
 The Group leases aircraft under finance leases to non-related parties. Leases 

where the Group has transferred substantially all risks and rewards incidental 
to ownership of the leased assets to the lessees, are classified as finance 
leases.   

 
 The leased asset is derecognised and the present value of the lease 

receivable (net of initial direct costs for negotiating and arranging the lease) is 
recognised on the balance sheet and included in “finance lease receivables”.  
The difference between the gross receivable and the present value of the 
lease receivable is recognised as unearned finance income.   
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2.1 Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
2.1.8 Leases (continued) 
 

(b) When the Group is the lessor: 

 
 Each lease payment received is applied against the gross investment in the 

finance lease receivable to reduce both the principal and the unearned finance 
income.  The finance income is recognised in profit or loss on a basis that 
reflects a constant periodic rate of return on the net investment in the finance 
lease receivable.  

 
 Initial direct costs incurred by the Group in negotiating and arranging finance 

leases are added to finance lease receivables and recognised as an expense 
in profit or loss over the lease term on the same basis as the lease income. 

 
2.1.9 Income taxes 
  
 Current income tax for current and prior periods is recognised at the amount expected 

to be paid to or recovered from the tax authorities, using the tax rates and tax laws 
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date. 
 
Deferred income tax is recognised for all temporary differences arising between the 
tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial 
statements except when the deferred income tax arises from the initial recognition of 
goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and 
affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss at the time of the transaction. 

 
 A deferred income tax liability is recognised on temporary differences arising on 

investments in subsidiaries, associated companies and joint ventures, except where 
the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference and it 
is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 

 
 A deferred income tax asset is recognised to the extent that it is probable that future 

taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences and tax losses 
can be utilised. 
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2.1 Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
2.1.9 Income taxes (continued) 
  
 Deferred income tax is measured: 
 

(i) at the tax rates that are expected to apply when the related deferred tax asset 
is realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled, based on tax rates and 
tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance 
sheet date: and 

 
 (ii) based on the tax consequence that will follow from the manner in which the 

Group and the Company expects, at the balance sheet date, to recover or 
settle the carrying amounts of its assets and liabilities. 

 
  Current and deferred income taxes are recognised as income or expenses in profit or 
loss for the period, except to the extent that the tax arises from a business 
combination or a transaction which is recognised directly in equity. Deferred tax 
arising from business combination is adjusted against goodwill on acquisition. 

 
2.1.10 Provisions 

 
Provisions are recognised when the Group and the Company has a present legal or 
constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is more likely than not that an 
outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation and the amount has been 
reliably estimated. Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses. 

 
2.1.11 Employee compensation or employee remuneration 

 
The Group and the Company contributions are recognised as employee 
compensation expense when they are due, unless they can be capitalised as an 
asset. 
 
(a) Defined contribution plans 

 
Defined contribution plans are post-employment benefit plans under which the 
Group and the Company pays fixed contributions into separate entities such 
as National Superannuation Fund and will have no legal or constructive 
obligation to pay further contributions if any of the funds does not hold 
sufficient assets to pay all employee benefits relating to employee service in 
the current and preceding financial years.  The Group and the Company 
contributions to defined contribution plans are recognised as employee benefit 
expense when they are due.   
 

(b) Employee leave entitlements 
 
Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service leave are recognised 
when they accrue to employees.  A provision is made for the estimated liability 
for annual leave and long service leave as a result of services rendered by 
employees up to the balance sheet date at the future expected cost.  
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2.1 Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
2.1.12 Currency translation  

 
(a) Functional and presentation currency  

 
Items included in the financial statements of each entity in the Group and the 
Company are measured using the currency of the primary economic 
environment in which the entity operates (“functional currency”).  The financial 
statements are presented in United States Dollar (“US$”) which is the 
Company’s functional currency. 

 
(b) Transactions and balances 

 
Transactions in a currency other than the functional currency (“foreign 
currency”) are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates 
at the dates of the transactions. Currency translation differences from the 
settlement of such transactions and from the translation of monetary assets 
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the closing rates at the 
balance sheet date are recognised in profit or loss, unless they arise from 
borrowings in foreign currencies, other currency instruments designated and 
qualifying as net investment hedges and net investment in foreign operations.  
Those currency translation differences are recognised in the currency 
translation reserve in the consolidated financial statements and transferred to 
profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on disposal of the foreign operation.   

 
Non-monetary items measured at fair values in foreign currencies are 
translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair values are 
determined. 

 
(c) Translation of Group entities’ financial statements 

 
The results and financial position of all the Group entities (none of which has 
the currency of a hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional currency 
different from the presentation currency are translated into the presentation 
currency as follows: 
 
(i)   Assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented are translated 

at the closing rate at the date of that balance sheet; 
(ii)   Income and expenses for each income statement are translated at 

average exchange rates; and 
(iii)   All resulting currency translation differences are recognised in the 

currency translation reserve in equity.  
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2.1 Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

2.1.13 Cash and cash equivalents 
 

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated cash flow statement, cash and 
cash equivalents include cash and bank balances, treasury bills, commercial papers 
and certificates of deposit, which are subject to an insignificant risk of change in value, 
and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are presented as current borrowings in the 
balance sheet.  
 

2.1.14 Long Term Fund, Development Fund and General Fund  
 
The Company is required by its rules to apply its income from  Ok Tedi Mining Limited 
and other sources to a Long Term Fund, the Development Fund and General Fund 
attributable to the operations of the Company. 
 
In pursuing its object, the Company is able to invest and utilise its available resources 
from the Long Term Fund, the Development Fund and General Fund in accordance 
with the Rules of the Company. 

 
Long Term Fund 
 
The Long Term Fund represents 2/3 of net income received from  Ok Tedi Mining 
Limited after deducting operating expenses and all other legal contractual obligations 
as specified in the rules of the program relating to the application of the income 
received. 

 
Funds from the Long Term Fund must be invested in low risk investments. 

 
Before the mine closure date, the funds will be used in the following order of priority: 
 
(a) Operating expenses for next 6 months in accordance with the budget 

approved by the Board from time to time. 
 

(b) To the extent the amounts under Rules clauses 9.2 (b) and 9.3 (b) and that 
part of the commitment which is undrawn are insufficient, to meet contractual 
obligations. 
 

(c) To the extent the amount under clause 9.2 (c) is insufficient, if determined by 
the Board, to meet a call by Ok Tedi Mining Limited in accordance with clause 
12 (further capital requirements by Ok Tedi Mining Limited). 
 

An annual budget is prepared and submitted to the Board of Directors for review and 
actual operating expenditure is monitored progressively against the approved budget. 
The budget is approved taking into account the Program Rules under clause 9.3 
applicable to the funding of operating expenses from investment income received by 
the Company on the Long Term Fund prior to mine closure.  
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2.1 Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

2.1.14 Long Term Fund, Development Fund and General Fund (continued) 
 
After mine closure the funds will be applied in the following order of priority: 
 
(a) Operating expenses for next 6 months in accordance with the budget 

approved by the Board from time to time. 
 

(b) To the extent that distributions and investment income received after the mine 
closure date are insufficient to meet contractual obligations as they fall due for 
payment.  

 
(c)  Calls from Ok Tedi Mining Limited (on Shareholders). 

 
(d) To fund Sustainable Development Purposes in proportions to be determined 

by the Board of Directors in accordance with Rules clause 10.4. 
 
Development Fund 
 
The fund is to be used to support and fund programs and projects which promote 
sustainable development in accordance with the “Rules for the PNG Sustainable 
Development Program” scheduled to and forming part of the Articles of Association of 
the Company. 

 
The Development Fund represents 1/3 of income received from OK Tedi Mining 
Limited investments after deducting operating expenses and all other contractual 
obligations as specified in the rules relating to the application of income received. 
 
In accordance with Rules clause 9.2 (e), the funds are to be applied as follows: 

 
(a) 1/3 of these funds to be used in accordance with the Objects of the Articles of 

Association of the Company and at the discretion of the Board for the benefit 
of the people of Western Province; and 

 
(b) 2/3 of these funds to be used in accordance with the Objects of the Articles of 

Association of the Company and at the discretion of the Board for the benefit 
of the people of Papua New Guinea. 

 
These funds will be used mainly to fund projects covering core areas in health, 
education, capacity building, economic development, infrastructure community self-
reliance, local community leadership and institutional capacity and other social and 
environmental purposes for the benefit of the people of Papua New Guinea, in 
particular, the people of the Western Province. 
 
An annual budget including development expenditure is prepared and submitted to 
the Board of Directors for review and actual expenditure is monitored progressively 
against the approved budget. The budget is approved taking into account the funds 
available for use in the Development Fund. 
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2.1 Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

2.1.14 Long Term Fund, Development Fund and General Fund (continued) 
 
General Fund 
 
In accordance with clause 14 of the “Rules for the PNG Sustainable Development 
Program”, a yearly budget of administration costs must be prepared and approved by 
the Board of Directors. 

 
The budget prepared for each year after the third year of the Program must reflect that 
the portion of the operating expenses attributable to the operation of the Company 
(but not to the running of the Program) should not exceed 15% of the average annual 
income of the Program during the immediate preceding 3 accounting years. 
 
The administration costs cover the normal operating expenses of the Company and of 
the Program including (without limitation) establishment costs, Directors’ fees, the cost 
of Directors’ and officers’ liability insurance, expenditure of the program manager and 
the program manager’s remuneration, and any tax payable by the Company. 
 

2.1.15  Grants  
 
Grants provided to subsidiaries, joint ventures and third parties are expensed in the 
period in which the grants are released. 

 
2.1.16  Financial assets  

 
(a) Classification 
 
 The Group and the Company classifies its financial assets in the following 

categories: at fair value through profit or loss, loans and receivables, and 
available-for-sale. The classification depends on the purpose for which the 
assets were acquired. Management determines the classification of its 
financial assets at initial recognition.  The designation of financial assets at fair 
value through profit or loss is irrevocable. 

 
 (i) Financial assets, at fair value through profit or loss 

  
 This category has two sub-categories: financial assets held for trading, 

and those designated at fair value through profit or loss at inception. A 
financial asset is classified as held for trading if it is acquired 
principally for the purpose of selling in the short term. Financial assets 
designated as at fair value through profit or loss at inception are those 
that are managed and their performances are evaluated on a fair value 
basis, in accordance with a documented Group and the Company 
investment strategy.  

 
Derivatives are also categorised as held for trading unless they are 
designated as hedges. Assets in this category are presented as 
current assets if they are either held for trading or are expected to be 
realised within 12 months after the balance sheet date. 
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2.1 Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
2.1.16 Financial assets (continued) 

 
(a) Classification (continued) 
 
 (i) Financial assets, at fair value through profit or loss (continued) 

 
Investments in debt and equity securities are designated by 
management as ‘financial assets at fair value through profit or loss’ 
upon initial recognition.  They are included in non-current assets 
unless management has the expressed intention of holding the 
investment for less than 12 months from the balance sheet date or 
unless they will mature within that period, in which case they are 
included in current assets. 

 
 (ii) Loans and receivables 

 
 Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or 

determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. They 
are presented as current assets, except for those maturing later than 
12 months after the balance sheet date which are presented as non-
current assets. Loans and receivables are presented as “other 
receivables”, “finance lease receivables” and “cash and cash 
equivalents” on the balance sheet. 

 
 (iii) Financial assets, available-for-sale  
 
 Financial assets, available-for-sale are non-derivatives that are either 

designated in this category or not classified in any of the other 
categories. They are presented as non-current assets unless 
management intends to dispose of the assets within 12 months after 
the balance sheet date. 

 
(b) Recognition and derecognition 
 
 Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on trade-

date – the date on which the Group and the Company commits to purchase or 
sell the asset.  

 
 Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from 

the financial assets have expired or have been transferred and the Group and 
the Company has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership. 
On disposal of a financial asset, the difference between the carrying amount 
and the sale proceeds is recognised in the profit or loss. Any amount in the fair 
value reserve relating to that asset is transferred to profit or loss. 
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2.1 Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
2.1.16 Financial assets (continued) 

  
(c) Initial measurement 
 

Financial assets are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs 
except for financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, which are 
recognised at fair value.  Transaction costs for financial assets at fair value 
through profit and loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss. 

 
(d)     Subsequent measurement 
 
 Financial assets, both available-for-sale and at fair value through profit or loss 

are subsequently carried at fair value. Loans and receivables and financial 
assets are subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method.  

 
 Changes in the fair values of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

including the effects of currency translation, interest and dividends, are 
recognised in profit or loss when the changes arise.  

 
Interest and dividend income on financial assets, available-for-sale are 
recognised separately in profit or loss.  Changes in the fair values of available-
for-sale debt securities (i.e. monetary items) denominated in foreign 
currencies are analysed into currency translation differences on the amortised 
cost of the securities and other changes; the currency translation differences 
are recognised in profit or loss and the other changes are recognised in the 
fair value reserve.  Changes in fair values of available-for-sale equity 
securities (i.e. non-monetary items) are recognised in the fair value reserve, 
together with the related currency translation differences. 

 
(e) Impairment  
 
 The Group and the Company assess at each balance sheet date whether 

there is objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of financial assets 
is impaired and recognises an allowance for impairment when such evidence 
exists.  
 
Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will 
enter bankruptcy, and default or significant delay in payments are objective 
evidence that these financial assets are impaired.  
 
The carrying amount of these assets is reduced through the use of an 
impairment allowance account which is calculated as the difference between 
the carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, 
discounted at the original effective interest rate. When the asset becomes 
uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account. Subsequent 
recoveries of amounts previously written off are recognised against the same 
line item in profit or loss. 
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2.1 Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 

2.1.16 Financial assets (continued) 
 
(e) Impairment (continued) 
 
 (i) Loans and receivables  

 
 The allowance for impairment loss account is reduced through profit or 

loss in a subsequent period when the amount of impairment loss 
decreases and the related decrease can be objectively measured. The 
carrying amount of the asset previously impaired is increased to the 
extent that the new carrying amount does not exceed the amortised 
cost, had no impairment been recognised in prior periods. 

 
 (ii) Financial assets, available-for-sale  
 
 Significant or prolonged declines in the fair value of the security below 

its cost and the disappearance of an active trading market for the 
security are objective evidence that the security is impaired.  

 
 The cumulative loss that was recognised in the fair value reserve is 

transferred to profit or loss. The cumulative loss is measured as the 
difference between the acquisition cost (net of any principal 
repayments and amortisation) and the current fair value, less any 
impairment loss previously recognised in profit or loss on debt 
securities. The impairment losses recognised in profit or loss on equity 
securities are not reversed through profit or loss.  

 
2.1.17 Trade and other payables 
  

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value, and subsequently 
carried at amortised cost, using the effective interest method. 
 

2.1.18 Comparative information 
 
Comparative information have been rearranged to comform to the current year 
presentation wherever necessary. Cashflows relating to investments which were 
previously classified as investment activities are now reclassified as operating 
activities in the cash flow statement since investment income is presently the Group’s 
primary source of income. Certain expenses are reclassified in the statement of 
comprehensive income to comform to the current year presentation. 
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3.   Critical accounting estimates, assumptions and judgement  
 
Estimates, assumptions and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on 
historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are 
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. 

 
3.1  Critical accounting estimates and assumptions 

 
The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting 
accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The 
estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material 
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial 
year are addressed below. 
 
(a) Financial asset at fair value through profit or loss 
 

The Group and the Company uses market or quoted price to fair value its 
financial assets. In cases where market or quoted prices are not used, fair 
value is determined by using valuation techniques and a set of key 
assumptions that are subject to change depending on the market conditions 
prevailing at the time in which fair value is determined. Furthermore, the Group 
and the Company follows guidance of FRS 39 to classify financial assets as 
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. The current classification is 
based on the premise that these financial assets are managed on a portfolio 
basis and traded accordingly. Prevailing market conditions could change 
resulting in reassessment of the current classification 

 
(b) Impairment of loans and receivables 

 
Management reviews its loans and receivables for objective evidence of 
impairment at least quarterly. Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, the 
probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy, and default or significant delay 
in payments are considered objective evidence that a receivable is impaired. 
In determining this, management makes judgement as to whether there is 
observable data indicating that there has been a significant change in the 
payment ability of the debtor, or whether there have been significant changes 
with adverse effect in the technological, market, economic or legal 
environment in which the debtor operates in. 
 
Where there is objective evidence of impairment, management makes 
judgements as to whether an impairment loss should be recorded as an 
expense. In determining this, management uses estimates based on historical 
loss experience for assets with similar credit risk characteristics. The 
methodology and assumptions used for estimating both the amount and timing 
of future cash flows are reviewed regularly to reduce any differences between 
the estimated loss and actual loss experience. 
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3.   Critical accounting estimates, assumptions and judgement (continued) 
 

(c)  Fair value of derivative financial instruments 
 
The Group through its fund managers may, from time to time, hold financial 
instruments that are not quoted in active markets, such as over-the-counter 
derivatives. Fair values of such instruments are determined by using valuation 
techniques. Where valuation techniques (for example, models) are used to 
determine fair values, they are validated and periodically reviewed 
independently.  
 

(d)  Functional currency 
 
The Board of Directors considers the US Dollar the currency that most 
faithfully represents the economic effect of the underlying transactions, events 
and conditions. The US Dollar is the currency in which the Group and the 
Company measures its performance and reports its results, as well as the 
currency in which it generates revenue from its investments. This 
determination also considers the primary economic environment in which the 
Group and the Company operate. 
 

(e)  Contingent assets 
 

The Company is involved in significant litigation with the PNG Government. 
On 19 September 2013, the PNG National Parliament passed into law the 
Mining (Ok Tedi Tenth Supplemental Agreement) Act 2013 which effectively 
expropriated all of PNGSDP’s shareholding in the share capital of Ok Tedi 
Mining Limited and transferred the 63.4% ownership previously held by 
PNGSDP to the PNG Government. 
 
The Company disputes the expropriation of Ok Tedi Mining Limited and 
continues to  seek restitution of the shares or compensation in respect of the 
shares in Ok Tedi Mining Limited taken over by the PNG Government through 
the enactment of the Mining (Ok Tedi Tenth Supplemental Agreement) Act 
2013. 
 
The directors are of the view that the Company has a strong case before the 
courts and that the eventual ruling will be in favour of the Company. As such 
the Company has disclosed this matter as a contingent asset. The value of 
contingent asset is yet to be ascertained and estimated to be  representing the 
fair value of its investment in Ok Tedi Mining Limited as at 19 September 2013 
upon expropriation of its shares in Ok Tedi Mining Limited, together with 
unpaid dividends that PNGSDP estimates would have been payable up until 
19 September 2013. 
 
The eventual outcome of the court cases as well as any compensation which 
may be awarded in favour of the Company is uncertain and could be 
significantly different from that anticipated by the directors.  
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4. Revenue 
 
  The Group  The Company 
 

 
2015 
US$ 

2014 
US$  

2015 
US$ 

2014 
US$ 

       
 Interest income from commercial 

papers, certificates of deposits, 
bonds and cash balances 15,194,200 18,594,671  14,779,816 18,105,392 

 Other dividends 8,465,031 8,508,287  8,465,031 8,508,287 
  23,659,231  27,102,958  23,244,847  26,613,679 
       
       
 Revenue from other activities      
 Interest income         9,484,637      9,703,986   - - 
 Fee and deposit services income         1,322,612      1,806,102   - - 
 Other income           661,704  -  - - 
        11,468,953    11,510,088   - - 
 Total revenue       35,128,184    38,613,046   23,244,847 26,613,679 
 

Other dividends relates to dividends received from In-house Managed Funds (see 
Note 10). 
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5. Expenses 
 
  The Group  The Company 
 

 
2015 
US$ 

2014 
US$  

2015 
US$ 

2014 
US$ 

 Other investment losses      
 Fair value losses on financial assets 

through profit or loss 5,096,855 6,548,283  5,096,855 6,548,283 
 Foreign exchange loss on local 

investments 13,485,541 3,947,945  13,485,541 3,947,945 
 

 
  

  18,582,396 10,496,228  18,582,396 10,496,228 
       
 Governance costs      
 Board of director’s fees 547,358 704,921  474,675 642,134 
 Board administration 251,468 323,848  239,979 323,848 
 Audit 194,672 417,059  104,500 295,254 
 Annual report meeting expenses 6,667 97,279  6,667 97,279 
 Company secretary 87,973 87,122  87,973 87,122 
 Annual report 45,892 123,823  45,892 123,823 
  1,134,030 1,754,052  959,686 1,569,460 
       
 Administration costs      
    Employee compensation (Note 6) 3,645,799 5,500,723  588,646 2,544,329 
    Depreciation (Note 15) - 139,953  - 118,007 
    Professional services 3,461,826 5,961,135  3,435,624 5,961,135 
    Travel 321,389 622,269  229,657 551,772 
    Insurance 319,581 434,741  248,959 366,652 
    Office rent and security expenses 1,838,239 4,605,876  253,864 2,995,153 
    Information services 587,960 706,017  149,218 366,652 
    Advertising and media cost 442,517 487,537  346,717 401,964 
    Motor vehicle expenses 168,115 164,323  24,514 11,929 
    Repairs and maintenance 182,777 223,006  34,323 109,871 
    Provision for loan losses 833,919 429,450  - - 
    Other expenses 770,020 977,010  24,830 402,507 
  12,572,142 20,252,040  5,336,352 13,829,971 
       
 Fund management cost      
    Investment service fees 3,204,326 2,470,187  3,204,326 2,470,187 
       
       
 Development program costs      
    Western province - 2,167,757  - 2,167,757 
  - 2,167,757  - 2,167,757 
 Other (gains)/losses – net 

Foreign currency exchange   
   loss ,net  8,241,466 423,653  1,222,131 423,653 

 Gain on disposal (Note 24) - (10,810,749)  - - 
  8,241,466 (10,387,096)  1,222,131 423,653 
 
   

 
  

 

 Total expenses 43,734,360 26,753,168  29,304,891 30,957,256 
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6. Employee compensation 
 
  The Group  The Company 

  
2015 
US$ 

2014 
US$  

2015 
US$ 

2014 
US$ 

       
       
 Wages and salaries 3,157,390 4,909,528   588,646   2,544,329 

 
Other employee benefits and 

costs 318,776 409,897  
 
- 

 
- 

 Employer's contribution to         
  defined contribution plans  253,804  181,298  - - 
   3,729,970   5,500,723  588,646  2,544,329 
 

Key management remuneration is disclosed in Note 23. 
 
 

7. Income tax expense/(credit) 
 

  The Group  The Company 
 

 
2015 
US$ 

2014 
US$  

2015 
US$ 

2014 
US$ 

       
 Tax expense/(credit) attributable 

to the operating (deficit)/surplus 
is made up of:      

 Current income tax  3,543,008 4,618,796  1,396,248 1,426,582 
 Deferred income tax (140,580) 2,380,986  - - 
  3,402,428 6,999,782  1,396,248 1,426,582 

 
The tax expense is comprised of: 
 
• US$1,396,248 (2014: US$1,426,582) in connection with the withholding tax 

deducted from dividend income from its Papua New Guinea equity 
investments; 

• US$2,146,760 (2014: US$3,192,214) in connection with the current income 
tax payable for a subsidiary; 

• Tax credit of US$140,580 (2014: US$2,380,986 tax expense) in connection 
with the temporary differences from a subsidiary. 

 
No Singapore income tax is payable on the basis that the dividend and interest 
income is not remitted to Singapore.  
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7. Income tax expense/(credit) (continued) 
 
The tax expense on results differs from the amount that would have arisen using the 
Singapore standard rate of income tax due to the following: 
 

 
Movement in the current income tax liability is as follows: 
 

  The Group  The Company 
 

 
2015 
US$ 

2014 
US$  

2015 
US$ 

2014 
US$ 

 
 Beginning of the financial year 2,806,442 -  - - 
 Tax expense for the year 2,146,760 2,806,442  - - 
 Foreign exchange movement (809,667)     
 Payments and offsets during the 

year (2,652,030) -  - - 
 End of the year 1,491,505 2,806,442  - - 

 
 

  

  The Group  The Company 
 

 
2015 
US$ 

2014 
US$  

2015 
US$ 

2014 
US$ 

       
 

(Deficit)/ surplus before income tax  (9,826,060) 11,859,878  
 

(6,060,044) 
 

(4,343,577) 
 

Tax calculated at Singapore rate 
applicable to surplus in Papua 
New Guinea at 17% (2014: 17%) (1,670,430) 2,016,179  

 
 
 

(1,030,207) 

 
 
 

(738,408) 
 Income not subject to tax (4,170,433) (4,975,248)  (3,343,453) (3,077,916) 
 Expenses not deductible for tax 

purpose 7,279,919 4,405,478  
 

5,769,908 
 

5,242,906 
 Tax recognised/(derecognised) on 

retained earnings of joint venture 
and tax expense of subsidiaries 1,963,372 5,553,373  

 
 
- 

 
 

- 
 Tax expense 3,402,428 6,999,782  1,396,248 1,426,582 
       
 Comprising of:      
 Dividend/interest withholding tax 

paid to the IRC of Papua New 
Guinea 1,396,248 1,426,582  1,396,248 1,426,582 

 Current income tax expense 2,146,760 3,192,214  - - 
 Deferred income tax (credit) / 

expense (140,580) 2,380,986  - - 
  3,402,428 6,999,782  1,396,248 1,426,582 
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8. Disposal of subsidiaries in prior year 
 

(i) Disposal of Cloudy Bay Sustainable Forestry Limited 
 
On 20 February 2014, the directors approved the disposal of the shares in 
Cloudy Bay Sustainable Forestry Limited which had timber harvesting, milling 
and selling operations in the Central Province in Papua New Guinea. The 
Company has received an initial consideration of US$5,190,733 (PNG Kina 
15,000,000) at the time of completion. The deferred consideration receivable 
of US$8,651,222 (PNG Kina 25,000,000) has not been recognised as eventual 
receipt is not considered probable. The consideration receivable is secured by 
fixed and floating charges over the assets of the Cloudy Bay Sustainable 
Forestry Limited and mortgage over its shares and the Company has the right 
to enforce security at the discretion of the directors. 
 

(ii) Disposal of Western Province Sustainable Power Limited 
On 6 February 2014, the directors approved the granting of the entire 
operations of Western Province Sustainable Power Limited to Fly River 
Provincial Government. This was achieved through the transfer of the shares 
and assets of Western Province Sustainable Power Limited for a consideration 
of 1 PNG Kina. 

  
(iii)  Disposal of Star Mountain Institute of Technology 

On 6 February 2014, the directors approved the granting of the wholly owned 
subsidiary Star Mountain Institute of Technology to the people of the 
communities included in the Community Mine Continuation Agreements 
(CMCA). This was achieved through the transfer of the shares and assets of 
Star Mountain Institute of Technology to the CMCA communities for a 
consideration of 1 PNG Kina. 
 

Details of the assets and liabilities disposed of in 2014 in respect of Cloudy Bay 
Sustainable Forestry Limited, Western Province Sustainable Power Limited and Star 
Mountain Institute of Technology and the calculation of the profit or loss on disposal 
are disclosed in Note 24. 
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9. Cash and cash equivalents 
 

  The Group  The Company 
 

 
2015 
US$ 

2014 
US$  

2015 
US$ 

2014 
US$ 

       
 Cash and bank balances 47,456,131 38,345,227  43,720,957 34,379,594 
       
 Funds under management:      
 Cash held in investment funds 12,932,536 73,558,498  12,932,536 73,558,498 
 Commercial papers and 

certificates of deposit 107,462,191 69,915,197  107,462,191 69,915,197 
  120,394,727 143,473,695  120,394,727 143,473,695 
  167,850,858 181,818,922  164,115,684 177,853,289 
 

The Company has restricted access to cash and cash equivalents held in Papua New 
Guinea of US$6,785,985 (2014:US$1,891,373) and other assets held in Papua New 
Guinea as the tax authorities have declined to provide taxation clearance to remit funds 
overseas due to ongoing litigation between the Company and the State. The Company is 
challenging this restriction. 
 
For the purpose of presenting the consolidated cash flow statements, the consolidated 
cash and cash equivalents comprise the following: 
 

  The Group 
   2015 

US$ 
 2014 

US$ 
      
 Cash and bank balances (as above)  167,850,858  181,818,922 
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10. Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
 
  The Group  The Company 
  2015 

US$ 
2014 
US$ 

 2015 
US$ 

2014 
US$ 

       
 Current      
 Funds under management:      
 Bonds  83,715,662 156,892,472  83,715,662 156,892,472 
       
 In-house Managed Funds:      
 Bonds 5,396,337 11,920,899  - - 
 Total current 89,111,999 168,813,371  83,715,662 156,892,472 
  

Non-current 
  

 
  

 Funds under management:      
 Bonds  764,225,049 646,182,478  764,225,049 646,182,478 
 Equity securities  135,176,092 129,373,662  135,176,092 129,373,662 
 Funds 8,269,897 11,299,951  8,269,897 11,299,951 
  907,671,038 786,856,091  907,671,038 786,856,091 
       
 In-house Managed Funds:      
 Equity securities * 87,764,337 120,199,227  87,764,337 120,199,227 
  87,764,337 120,199,227  87,764,337 120,199,227 
 Total non-current 995,435,375 907,055,318  995,435,375 907,055,318 
       
 Total 1,084,547,374 1,075,868,689  1,079,151,037 1,063,947,790 
 
 * Investments in listed equity securities. 
 

Funds under management 
 
 The financial assets that are externally-managed comprised funds placed with  

various professional fund managers pursuant to investment management agreements. 
The Group can, pursuant to the terms, terminate the agreements by giving the 
requisite prior notice in writing to the fund managers. These fund managers are given 
discretionary powers within certain guidelines to invest the funds and these financial 
assets are managed on a portfolio basis and their performance evaluated on a fair 
value basis. 
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11. Finance lease receivables 
 

The Group leases aircraft to a non-related party under finance lease arrangements. 
The initial agreement on the first aircraft terminated during 2014. In October 2010, the 
Group entered into finance lease arrangements for two aircraft. The remaining two 
agreements terminate in 2017. 

 
  The Group 
  2015 2014 
  US$ US$ 
 Gross receivables due   
  - Not later than one year  11,167,968  8,937,984  
  - Later than one year but within five years  7,445,311  16,263,099  
 Total 18,613,279 25,201,083 
    
 Less: Unearned finance income (1,452,732) (2,413,573) 
 Net investment in finance leases 17,160,547 22,787,510 
 
 The net investment in finance leases is analysed as follows: 
 
  The Group 
  2015 2014 
  US$ US$ 
    
 Not later than one year 8,116,369 7,574,178 
 Later than one year   
  - Between one and five years   9,044,178  15,213,332 
  17,160,547 22,787,510 
 

The fair value of lease receivables at 31 December 2015 amounted to US$18,401,221 
(2014: US$24,600,739). The fair values are based on cash flows discounted using a 
rate of 1.06% (2014: 2.0%). 
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12. Other receivables 
 
  The Group  The Company 
 

 
2015 
US$ 

2014 
US$  

2015 
US$ 

2014 
US$ 

 Current      
 Loans receivable from  

   subsidiaries - -  73,921,003 81,701,667 
 Other debtors 13,449,156 16,146,778  984,687 3,354,368 
  13,449,156 16,146,778  74,905,690 85,056,035 
  
 Non-current      
 Loan receivable from a joint 

venture 44,887,500 52,491,823  - - 
  44,887,500 52,491,823  - - 
 
  The Company 
 

 
2015 
US$ 

2014 
US$ 

    
 Loans receivable from subsidiaries:   
 Champion 34 73,921,003 81,701,667 
  73,921,003 81,701,667 

 
Other debtors (excluding prepayments and interest receivable) are denominated in 
PNG Kina. The carrying amounts of interest receivable, and other debtors 
approximated their fair values. 

 
The loan receivable from Champion 34 is interest-free, unsecured with no fixed 
repayment period and will be called upon when the subsidiary has the capacity to 
repay the loan. 
 
On 23 November 2012, Champion 34 Limited, a subsidiary of the Company, entered 
into a loan agreement with a shareholder of a joint venture, in connection with the loan 
of PNG Kina 135,000,000 for a term of 5 years from the initial drawdown date. Interest 
is fixed at 6.5% per annum. The US Dollar equivalent of the balance outstanding at 31 
December 2015 was US$44,887,500 (2014: US$52,491,823).  
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13.     Investment in joint ventures 
 
    The Company 
 

    
2015 
US$ 

2014 
US$ 

 Current      
 Investment in Ok Tedi Mining 

Limited,  at cost    - 2,903,581 
 Investment in PNG Energy 

Development Limited 
(“PNGEDL”), at cost    45,109,368 45,109,368 

 Impairment loss on investment 
in Ok Tedi Mining Limited    - (2,903,581) 

 Provision for impairment of 
investment in PNGEDL    (45,109,368) (45,109,368) 

 Total Investment    - - 
  

 
      

  The Group    
 

 
2015 
US$ 

2014 
US$    

  
Non-current 
Beginning of the financial year 9,330,000 9,330,000    

 Share of results after tax (1,219,884) -    
 Foreign currency translation 

differences (2,587,440) -    
 End of the financial year 5,522,676 9,330,000    
 

The investments in joint ventures are represented by: 
 

  The Group 
 

 
2015 
US$ 

2014 
US$ 

 Share of net assets in PNGEDL - - 
 Share of net assets in Harbourside Development Ltd 5,522,676 9,330,000 
 Total 5,522,676 9,330,000 
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13.     Investment in joint ventures (continued) 
 
The following amounts represent the Group’s share of the assets and liabilities and 
income and expenses of the joint ventures: 

 
  The Group 
 

 
2015 
US$ 

2014 
US$ 

    
 - Assets  33,481,465  35,719,069 
 - Liabilities ( 27,296,040)  (27,214,651) 
 - Revenue  544,340  - 
 - Net results  (1,244,177) (403,676) 
    
 Share of capital commitment - - 
 
 OK Tedi Mining Limited 
 

On 19 September 2013, the PNG National Parliament passed into law the Mining (Ok 
Tedi Tenth Supplemental Agreement) Act 2013 which effectively expropriated all of 
PNGSDP’s shareholding in the share capital of Ok Tedi Mining Limited and 
transferred the 63.4% ownership previously held by PNGSDP to the PNG Government. 
 
Effective from the enactment of the new law the share register of Ok Tedi Mining 
Limited was amended to reflect the new shareholding of the State in Ok Tedi Mining 
Limited and all references to PNGSDP in the constitution of Ok Tedi Mining Limited 
and in the Fifth Restated Shareholders Agreement of Ok Tedi Mining Limited were 
replaced, and the State required that effective from the date of the Mining (Ok Tedi 
Tenth Supplemental Agreement) Act 2013 all references to PNGSDP were to be 
interpreted as referring to the PNG Government. 
 
There was no consideration paid to PNGSDP in respect of the shares which were 
taken over by the PNG Government. The above events in 2013 resulted in the 
recognition of an impairment loss of US$668,525,914 for the group in that year. 
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13.     Investment in joint ventures (continued) 
  
 PNG Energy Development Limited 
 

Pursuant to a shareholder agreement, PNGEDL is equally owned by PNGSDP and 
Origin Energy Ltd. The principal activity of PNGEDL is to implement and manage 
electricity and energy projects which are in line with the overall goals and objectives of 
PNGSDP. Origin Energy Ltd was providing technical expertise whilst PNGSDP 
provided funding for the projects. 
 
In 2013, a decision was made by the directors to impair the full value of the 
investment based on the fact that its key project, the Purari River Project is long dated 
and the scale of PNGSDP’s involvement in the future is uncertain given the Company 
no longer has the capacity to continue funding the project after the loss of its dividend 
income from the investment in Ok Tedi Mining Limited. The directors continue to 
explore opportunities to realise the value created from technical feasibility studies on 
the Purari Project. 
 
Harbourside Development Limited 
 
Champion 34 Limited has a 50% joint venture agreement with Steamships Trading 
Company Limited to develop an office complex on the waterfront in Port Moresby. The 
construction of this office complex was completed and the commercial letting of the 
premises commenced during the 2nd half of 2015. The investment in this development 
was $9,330,000 which has been equity accounted in accordance with the Group’s 
policy for joint ventures. 
 

 
Details of the joint ventures are as follows: 

 
Name of joint venture Principal activities 

Country of 
Incorporation 

Effective  
Interest 

    2015 2014 
    % % 
      
 Ok Tedi Mining Limited Mining of copper and 

gold 
Papua New Guinea - - 

      
 PNG Energy Development  

  Limited 
Development of  energy  
  projects  

Papua New Guinea 50 50 

      
 Harbourside Development  

  Limited 
Property development Papua New Guinea 50 50 

 
There are no contingent liabilities relating to the Group’s interest in the joint ventures. 
The Group did not have access to the financial information of Ok Tedi Mining Limited 
due to the ongoing litigation with the State and as such no information is disclosed. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  



PAGE 44 | PNG SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT PROGRAM LTD

PNG  SUSTAINABLE  DEVELOPMENT  PROGRAM  LIMITED  
AND  ITS  SUBSIDIARIES  
 
NOTES  TO  THE  FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
For the financial year ended 31 December 2015 
 
 

 
 

44 

13.   Investment in joint ventures (continued) 
 

Summarised financial information for PNG Energy Development Limited 
 
Set out below are the summarised financial information for PNG Energy Development 
Limited which is accounted for using the equity method. 

 
Summarised balance  sheet 
 

 

 
2015 
US$ 

2014 
US$ 

Current    
  Cash and cash equivalents 1,576,114 1,486,240 
  Other current assets (excluding cash) 76,962 553,619 
  Total current assets 1,653,077 2,039,859 
  Financial liabilities (excluding trade payables) - 42,709 
  Other current liabilities (including trade payables) 327,579 408,313 
  Total current liabilities 327,579 451,022 
Net assets 1,325,498 1,588,837 
   
Carrying value of interest in joint venture at 50% 662,749 794,419 
Impairment (662,749) (794,419) 
Carrying value - - 

 
Summarised statement of comprehensive income 
	  

 

 
2015 
US$ 

2014 
US$ 

   
Foreign exchange gain/(loss) 87,258 (209,179) 
Interest income 16,914 24,999 
Gain on asset disposal - 43,710 
Administration expenses (152,758) (667,720) 
Loss before income tax (48,586) (808,190) 
Income tax expense - - 
Loss for the year after tax attributable to equity   
holders of the Company (48,586)  (808,190) 
Other comprehensive income - - 
Total comprehensive loss for the year attributable to 
equity holders of the Company (48,586)  (808,190) 

 
The information above reflects the amounts presented in the financial statements 
of the joint venture (and not the Group’s share of those amounts) adjusted for 
differences in accounting policies between the Group and the joint venture  
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13.  Investment in joint ventures (continued) 
 

Summarised financial information for Harbourside Development Limited 
 

Set out below are the summarised financial information for Harbourside 
Development Limited which is accounted for using the equity method. 
 
Summarised balance sheet 
 

 
2015 
US$ 

2014 
US$ 

Current    
  Cash and cash equivalents         531,837  1,211,203 
  Other current assets (excluding cash)       1,075,550  4,871,592 
  Total current assets 1,607,387 6,082,795 
  Financial liabilities (excluding trade payables) 53,118,426 58,712,914 
  Other current liabilities (including trade payables)       1,146,075  1,348,161 
  Total current liabilities 54,264,501 60,061,075 
   
Non-current   
   Assets 63,702,466 69,398,280 
Net assets 11,045,352 15,420,000 
Foreign currency translation difference  - 3,240,000 
 
Net assets including the foreing currency transaltion 
differences 11,045,352 18,660,000 
Carrying value of interest in joint venture at 50% 5,522,676 9,330,000 
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13.  Investment in joint ventures (continued) 
 
Summarised statement of comprehensive income 
	  

 
2015 
US$ 

2014 
US$ 

   
Revenue from continuing operations       2,148,200  - 
Operating costs (5,632,624) - 
Loss before income tax (3,484,424) - 
Income tax credit 1,044,656 - 
Loss for the year after tax attributable to equity   
holders of the Company (2,439,768) - 
Other comprehensive income - - 
Total comprehensive loss for the year attributable to 
equity holders of the Company (2,439,768) - 

 
The company was in development phase until end of 2014 and has started 
generating revenue in 2015. 
 
The information above reflects the amounts presented in the financial statements 
of the joint venture (and not the Group’s share of those amounts) adjusted for 
differences in accounting policies between the Group and the joint venture 
 

 
14.  Investment in subsidiaries 
 
  The Company 
 

 
2015 
US$ 

2014 
US$ 

 Investments (unquoted at cost )   
   PNG Sustainable Infrastructure Limited 1 1 
   Impairment of PNG Sustainable Infrastructure Limited (1) (1) 
   PNG Sustainable Energy Limited  5,450,000  5,450,000 
   Impairment of PNG Sustainable Energy Limited (5,450,000) (5,450,000) 
   Champion No. 34 Limited 1 1 
   PNG Sustainable Development Program (Australia) Pty Limited 1 - 
   Champion No 53 Limited -** -** 
   Daru Port Development Company Ltd 31,914,150 31,914,150 
   Impairment of Daru Port Development Company Ltd (31,914,150) (31,914,150) 
   PNG Microfinance Ltd 1,940,787 1,940,787 
   Impairment of PNG Microfinance Ltd (1,940,787) (1,940,787) 
  2 1 
  

** less than US$1. 
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14. Investment in subsidiaries (continued) 
 
Details of the subsidiaries are as follows: 
 

 
Name of company Principal activities 

Country of 
incorporation 

Effective  
Interest 

    2015 2014 
    % % 
      
      
 PNG Sustainable Infrastructure  

  Limited 
Develop and 

construct   
infrastructure  
projects in Papua 
New Guinea 
Inactive since 
2008. 

Papua New 
Guinea 

100 100 

      
 Champion No. 34 Limited Leasing of aircraft 

and investment 
activities. 

Papua New 
Guinea 

100 100 

      
 PNG Sustainable Development 

Program (Australia) Pty Limited 
Administration, 

accounting and 
investment 
management 
services. 

Australia 100 - 

      
      
 PNG Microfinance Ltd Financial institution. Papua New 

Guinea 
81 81 

      
      
 Daru Port Development Company  

   Ltd  
Construction of port  
  and road facilities in 
   the Western  
   Province.  

Papua New 
Guinea 

100 100 
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15.  Property, plant and equipment  
 
 The Group 
 

 

Computers 
and  

computer  
software     

US$ 

Motor 
vehicles         

US$ 

Fixtures  
& fittings 

US$ 

Leasehold 
land 
US$ 

Total 
US$ 

2015      
Cost      
Beginning and end of the   
   financial  year 

 
- 

 
73,144 

 
- 

 
7,704,607 

 
7,777,751 

      
Accumulated depreciation 
and impairment loss      
Beginning and end of the   
   financial  year 

 
- 

 
73,144 

 
- 

 
7,503,799 

 
7,576,9437 

      
Net book value      
End of financial year  - - - 200,808 200,808 
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15.  Property, plant and equipment (continued)   
 
 The Group 
 

 

Computers 
and  

computer 
software     

US$ 

Motor 
vehicles         

US$ 

Fixtures & 
fittings 
US$ 

Plant and 
equipment 

US$ 

Leasehold 
Improvement

s 
US$ 

Leasehold 
land 
US$ 

 
 

Buildings 
US$ 

 
 

Capital work 
in progress 

US$ 
Total 
US$ 

2014          
Cost          

Beginning of financial  
  year 

 
 

2,703,861 

 
 

2,601,202 

 
 

1,992,760 

 
 

22,407,029 

 
 

787,549 

 
 

10,647,741 

 
 

11,463,722 

 
 

4,691,481 

 
 

57,295,345 
Additions 55,806 90,320 16,131 - - - - - 162,257 

Disposals (2,759,667) (2,691,522) (2,008,891) (22,407,029) (787,549) (2,943,134) (11,463,722) (4,691,481) (49,752,995) 

End of financial year - - - - - 7,704,607 - - 7,704,607 

          
Accumulated  
  depreciation and  
  impairment loss        

 

 
Beginning of financial  
  year 

2,680,039 1,240,642 1,494,629 22,252,134 595,871 10,432,336 9,702,507 4,691,481 53,089,639 

Depreciation charge 6,630 133,110 213 - - - - - 139,953 

Impairment loss - - - - - 14,597 - - 14,597 

Disposals (2,686,669) (1,373,752) (1,494,842) (22,252,134) (595,871) (2,943,134) (9,702,507) (4,691,481) (45,740,390) 

End of financial year - - - - - 7,503,799 - - 7,503,799 

          
Net book value          
End of financial year  - - - - - 200,808 - - 200,808 
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15.  Property, plant and equipment (continued) 
 
 The Company 
 
 

 
Motor 

vehicles         

 
Leasehold  

Land Total 
  US$  US$ 
     
 2015    
 Cost    
 Beginning and end of the financial  

  year 73,144 
 

7,704,607 7,777,751 
     
 Accumulated depreciation    
 Beginning and end of the financial  

  year 73,144 
 

7,503,799 7,576,943 
     
 Net book value    
 End of financial year - 200,808 200,808 
  

The Company 
 

 

 
Motor 

vehicles         

 
Leasehold  

Land Total 
  US$  US$ 
     
 2014    
 Cost    
 Beginning of financial year 601,150 7,704,607 8,305,757 
 Disposals (528,006) - (528,006) 
 End of financial year 73,144 7,704,607 7,777,751 
     
 Accumulated depreciation    
 Beginning of financial year 209,366 7,489,202 7,698,568 
 Depreciation charge 118,007 - 118,007 
 Impairment loss - 14,597 14,597 
 Disposals (254,229)  (254,229) 
 End of financial year 73,144 7,503,799 7,576,943 
     
 Net book value    
 End of financial year - 200,808 200,808 
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16. Sundry creditors and accruals 
 
  The Group  The Company 
 

 
2015 
US$ 

2014 
US$  

2015 
US$ 

2014 
US$ 

 Amounts due to:       
 Depositors of subsidiary 17,452,050 25,073,550  - - 
 Other non-related parties 2,843,898 3,105,700  537,580 1,765,989 
  20,295,948 28,179,250  537,580 1,765,989 

 
 

17. Deferred income tax 
 
Movement in deferred income tax account is as follows: 
 

  The Group  The Company 
 

 
2015 
US$ 

2014 
US$  

2015 
US$ 

2014 
US$ 

 
  Beginning of the financial year 1,866,691 (514,295)  - - 
  Tax (credit) /charge  to profit or 

loss  (140,580) 2,380,986  - - 
  1,726,111 1,866,691  - - 

 
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally 
enforceable right to set off current income tax assets against current income tax 
liabilities and when the deferred income taxes relate to the same fiscal authority.   
 
The amounts, determined after appropriate offsetting, are shown on the balance 
sheets as follows:  
 

  The Group  The Company 
 

 
2015 
US$ 

2014 
US$  

2015 
US$ 

2014 
US$ 

 
 Deferred income tax liabilities 

relate to:      
  Finance leases 1,726,111 1,866,691  - - 
 
 Deferred income tax liabilities:      
  - to be settled/(recovered) after  

     one year 1,726,111 1,866,691  - - 
 
Deferred income tax liabilities were recognised on temporary differences arising 
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in respect of 
a subsidiary in the Group. 
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18. Members’ subscriptions 
 

As a Company “limited by guarantee”, the Company does not have any issued shares 
or shareholders. At 31 December 2015, there are 3 (2014: 3) members of the 
Company, (Sir Mekere Morauta, Donald Manoa and Lim How Teck). Every member of 
the company undertakes to contribute to the assets of the company an amount not 
exceeding Singapore dollar 10, in the event of winding up of the company.  

 
 
19. General Fund, Long Term Fund and Development Fund 

 
General Fund 
 
The General Fund is accounted for in accordance with the policy set out in Note 
2.1.14. 
 

  The Company 
 

 
2015 
US$ 

2014 
US$ 

    
 Beginning of the financial year - - 
 Other income 10,163 93,004 
 Governance and administrative expenses (7,518,168) (15,823,084) 
 Transfer from long term and development funds 7,508,005 15,730,080 
 End of the financial year - - 
 

Long Term Fund 
 
The Long Term Fund is accounted for in accordance with the policy set out in Note 
2.1.14. 

  The Company 
 

 
2015 
US$ 

2014 
US$ 

    
 Beginning of the financial year 1,299,677,925 1,295,953,733 
 Investment gain - net 4,781,604 14,321,880 
 Investment expenses (3,204,326) (2,466,059) 
 Withholding tax paid to IRC of Papua New Guinea (1,396,249) (1,426,582) 
 Transfer to General Fund (5,005,336) (6,705,047) 
 End of the financial year 1,294,853,618 1,299,677,925 
 

The weighted average rate of return on investment for the Long Term Fund for the 
year was 1.17% (2014: 0.07%) per annum.  
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19. General Fund, Long Term Fund and Development Fund (continued) 
 

Development Fund 
 
The Development Fund is accounted for in accordance with the policy set out in Note 
2.1.14, and is allocated between the Western Province Program Fund and the 
National Program Fund as follows: 
 

  The Company 

  

Western 
Province 
Program 
Fund 

National 
Program 
Fund 

Program 
Total 

Program 
Total 

  
2015 
US$ 

2015 
US$ 

2015 
US$ 

2014 
US$ 

      
 Beginning of the financial year 35,703,982 (10,089,991) 25,613,991 35,108,342 
 Investment (loss) / income (41,554) (87,762) (129,316) 1,702,567 

 
Investment & Development 

expenses - - - (2,171,885) 
 Transfer to General Fund (834,223) (1,668,446) (2,502,669) (9,025,033) 
 End of the financial year 34,828,205 (11,846,199) 22,982,006 25,613,991 

 
The weighted average rate of return on short term investments for the development 
fund for the year was 0.21% (2014: 0.65%) per annum.  
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20.  Commitments  
 
 (a)  Operating lease commitments 

 
 The Group leases office space and motor vehicles from non-related parties 

under non-cancellable operating lease agreements. The leases have varying 
terms, escalation clauses and renewal rights. 

 
 The future aggregate minimum lease payments under non-cancellable 

operating leases contracted for at the reporting date but not recognised as 
liabilities, are as follows: 

 
  The Group  The Company 
 

 
2015 
US$ 

2014 
US$  

2015 
US$ 

2014 
US$ 

       
 Not later than 1 year 556,844 803,131  50,400 57,918 
 Later than 1 year but 

  not later than 5 
  years 

 
997,935 932,205  

 
 

88,200 

 
 

115,836 
  1,554,779 1,735,336  138,600 173,754 
  

(b) Capital commitments 
 

 There were no capital expenditures contracted for at the balance sheet date 
but not recognised in the financial statements, excluding those relating to 
investment in a joint venture (Note 13). 

  
 (c) Compensation commitments 

 
The Group was a party to various compensation agreements with landowners 
and other surrounding communities affected by the Ok Tedi mine. 
Compensation packages are denominated in the local currency and, in the 
majority of instances, are payable over the life of the open pit mine. 
 
Under these arrangements PNGSDP had an annual commitment to spend at 
least US$10,029,000 (PGK21,500,000) or 2.5% of dividends declared each 
year, whichever is greater, in mine affected communities until mine closure 
date.  
 
The directors are of the view that there are no ongoing obligations in respect 
of the compensation agreements subsequent to the expropriation of the 
shares in Ok Tedi Mining Limited by the PNG Government as these are 
predicated on PNGSDP continuing as a shareholder in Ok Tedi Mining Limited 
and receiving dividends from Ok Tedi Mining Limited. 
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21. Contingencies 
 

(a) Contingent liabilities 
 

The Shareholder Agreement between PNGSDP, PNG Microfinance Ltd 
(“PNGMF”) and International Finance Corporation (“IFC”) was amended and 
restated on 22 May 2006 to cater for a subscription agreement between 
PNGMF and International Finance Corporation (“IFC”) dated 24 June 2005.  
IFC agreed on the terms and conditions set out therein and subscribed for 
approximately 2,900,000 shares ("option shares") of PNGMF. As a condition 
for investing in PNGMF, the IFC entered into a Put Option Agreement with 
PNGSDP on 22 May 2006.  The Put Option Agreement binds PNGSDP to 
acquire the option shares when IFC exercises the right to require PNGSDP to 
purchase any or all of the option shares. The Put Option Agreement specifies 
that the put option can be exercised by IFC when a "Put Triggering Event" 
occurs, such as default or non-compliance by PNGSDP or PNGMF with any of 
its respective obligations, or any misrepresentation or breach of warranty by 
PNGSDP or PNGMF under the Shareholders Agreement. 
 
There have been no such "Put Triggering Event" during the year or in relation 
to prior years. 
 

(b) Contingent assets 
 

On 19 September 2013, the PNG National Parliament passed into law the 
Mining (Ok Tedi Tenth Supplemental Agreement) Act 2013 which effectively 
expropriated all of PNGSDP’s shareholding in the share capital of Ok Tedi 
Mining Limited and transferred the 63.4% ownership previously held by 
PNGSDP to the PNG Government. 
 
The Company continues to seek restitution of the shares or compensation in 
respect of the shares in Ok Tedi Mining Limited taken over by the PNG 
Government through the enactment of the Mining (Ok Tedi Tenth 
Supplemental Agreement) Act 2013. 
 
As at the date of financial statements, the directors are of the view that the 
PNG Government owes to PNGSDP an amount representing,  the fair value of 
its investment in Ok Tedi Mining Limited as at 19 September together with 
unpaid dividends that PNGSDP estimates would have been payable up until 
19 September 2013. 
 
The directors of PNGSDP are reasonably confident that an eventual ruling on 
the matter before the courts will be in favour of PNGSDP and have therefore 
disclosed this matter as a contingent asset. As at the date of approval of these 
financial statements, sufficient information is not available to reliably determine 
any eventual settlement amount. 
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22. Financial risk management 
 
 Financial risk factors 
 

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including 
currency risk, fair value interest rate risk, cash flow interest rate risk and price risk), 
credit risk and liquidity risk. 
 
The Group is also exposed to operational risks such as custody risk. Custody risk is 
the risk of loss of securities held in custody occasioned by the insolvency or 
negligence of the custodian. Although an appropriate legal framework is in place that 
eliminates the risk of loss of value of the securities held by the custodian, in the event 
of its failure, the ability of the Group to transfer securities might be temporarily 
impaired. 
 
The Group’s overall risk management programme seeks to maximise the returns 
derived for the level of risk to which the Group is exposed and seeks to minimise 
potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance. All securities 
investments present a risk of loss of capital. The maximum loss of capital is limited to 
the fair value of those positions.  
 
The management of these risks is carried out by the investment managers under 
policies approved by the Board of Directors.  The Board of Directors is responsible for 
setting the objectives and the underlying principles of financial risk management for 
the Group and the Company. The Investment and Finance Committee then 
establishes the detailed policies such as authority levels, oversight responsibilities, 
risk identification and measurement, exposure limits, covering specific areas, such as 
foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, credit risk, the use of derivative financial 
instruments and non-derivative financial instruments and the investment of excess 
liquidity in accordance with the objectives and underlying principles that are approved 
by the Board of Directors.  

 
The Group and the Company has appointed six (2014: seven) professional fund 
managers to carry out the investment activities in accordance with the investment 
policies and guidelines approved by the Board of Directors. An Investment and 
Finance Committee of the Board has been established to monitor investment and risk 
management and the performance of the fund managers. 
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22. Financial risk management (continued) 
 

(i) Market risk  
 

(a)  Price risk 
 

The Group is exposed to equity and bond securities price risk and 
derivative price risk. This arises from investments held by the Fund 
Managers for which prices in the future are uncertain. Where non-
monetary financial instruments – for example, equity securities – are 
denominated in currencies other than the US Dollar, the price initially 
expressed in foreign currency and then converted into US Dollar will 
also fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. Please 
refer to section (b) for measurement and management of foreign 
exchange risk. 

 
The Group’s policy is to manage price risk through diversification and 
selection of reputable and experienced Fund Managers that manages 
the securities and other financial instruments within specified limits set 
by the Board of Directors. A summary analysis of investments by 
nature is presented in Note 10. 
 
The majority of the Group’s equity investments are publicly traded with 
good credit quality ratings. The Group’s policy requires that the overall 
market position is monitored by the Group’s Investment and Finance 
Committee and is reviewed on a quarterly basis by the Board of 
Directors. Compliance with the Group’s investment policies are 
reported to the Board by the Investment and Finance Committee on a 
quarterly basis. 

 
At 31 December, the fair value of equities and bonds exposed to price 
risk were as follows: 

 
 Fair Value 
 2015  2014 
 US$  US$ 
The Group    
Equity securities designated at fair 

value through profit or loss 222,940,429  249,572,889 

Bonds designated at fair value through  
   profit or loss 853,337,048  814,995,848 

    
 Fair Value 
 2015  2014 
 US$  US$ 
The Company    
Equity securities designated at fair 

value through profit or loss 222,940,429  249,572,889 
Bonds designated at fair value through 
  profit or loss 847,940,711  803,074,949  
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22. Financial risk management (continued) 
 

(i) Market risk (continued) 
 

(a) Price risk (continued) 
 
The table below summarises the sensitivity of the Group’s and 
Company’s investments to equity and bond price movements as at 31 
December. The analysis is based on the assumptions that the Market 
Index changed by 5% (2014: 5%) with all other variables held 
constant, and that the fair value of the Group’s portfolio of equity and 
bond securities moved according to their historical correlation with the 
index. This represents management’s best estimate of a reasonably 
possible shift in the Market Index, having regard to the historical 
volatility of the index. The impact below arises from the reasonably 
possible change in the fair value of equities and equity derivatives. 
 

  2015  2014 
  Increase/(Decrease) 

  
Surplus from 
operations  

Surplus from 
operations 

  US$  US$ 
 The Group    
 Managed by Fund Managers    
 - increased by  49,155,841   46,622,430 
 - decreased by (49,155,841)   (46,622,430) 
     
 Managed in-house    
 - increased by  4,658,034   6,606,006 
 - decreased by (4,658,034)  (6,606,006) 
     
 The Company    
 Managed by Fund Managers    
 - increased by  49,155,841   46,622,430 
 - decreased by (49,155,841)  (46,622,430) 
     
 Managed in-house    
 - increased by  4,388,217   6,009,961 
 - decreased by (4,388,217)   (6,009,961) 
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22. Financial risk management (continued) 
 

(i) Market risk (continued) 
 

(a) Price risk (continued) 
 

The Investment and Finance Committee uses market indices as a 
reference point in assessing the investment decisions made by the 
Fund Managers. However, the Investment and Finance Committee 
does not manage the Group’s investment strategy to track the Market 
Index or any other index or external benchmark. The sensitivity 
analysis presented is based upon the portfolio composition as at 31 
December and the historical correlation of the securities comprising 
the portfolio to the respective indices. The composition of the Group’s 
investment portfolio as managed by the Fund Managers is expected to 
change over time. The sensitivity analysis prepared as at 31 
December is not necessarily indicative of the effect on the Group’s and 
Company’s investments of future movements in the level of the market 
index. 

 
(b) Foreign exchange risk 

 
The fund managers of the Group operate internationally and hold 
monetary assets denominated in currencies other than the US Dollar, 
the functional currency. Foreign currency risk, as defined in FRS 107, 
arises as the value of future transactions, recognised monetary assets 
and monetary liabilities denominated in other currencies fluctuate due 
to changes in foreign exchange rates.  
 
Management monitors the exposure on all foreign currency 
denominated assets and liabilities. The table below summarises the 
Group’s assets and liabilities, which are denominated in a currency 
other than the US Dollar. 
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22. Financial risk management (continued) 
 

(i) Market risk (continued) 
 

(b) Foreign exchange risk (continued) 
 

The Group’s and Company’s currency exposure based on the 
information used by key management is as follows: 

 
 PGK EUR USD HKD Other Total 
 US$ US$ US$ US$ US$ US$ 
The Group       
2015       
Financial Assets       
Cash and cash 

equivalents 
 

10,521,160 1,654,133 
 

130,420,059 
 

258,060 24,997,446 
 

167,850,858 

Financial assets at fair 
value through profit or 
loss 

 
 
 

77,249,745 

 
 
 

34,612,449 

 
 
 

911,620,765 

 
 
 

5,246,620 

 
 

55,817,795 

 
 

1,084,547,374 

Other receivables  and 
finance lease receivable 

 
 
 
 

58,336,656 

 
 
 
 

- 

 
 
 
 

17,160,547 

 
 
 
 

- 

 
 
 
 

- 

 
 
 
 

75,497,203 
 146,107,561 36,266,582 1,059,201,371 5,504,680 80,815,241 1,327,895,435 
Financial Liabilities       
Sundry creditors and 

accruals 
 

(20,582,332) - - - -  
(20,582,332) 

       

Net financial assets 
 

125,525,229 
 

36,266,582 
 
1,059,201,371 

 
5,504,680 

 
80,815,241 

 
1,307,313,103 

       
Less: Net financial 
assets denominated in 
the Group’s functional 
currency - - (1,059,201,371) - - (1,059,201,371) 
       
Currency exposure 125,525,229 36,266,582 - 5,504,680 80,815,241 248,111,732 

 

  



ANNUAL REPORT 2015 | PAGE 61

PNG SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT PROGRAM LIMITED 
AND ITS SUBSIDIARIES 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the financial year ended 31 December 2015 
 
 

 
 

61 

22. Financial risk management (continued) 
 

(i) Market risk (continued) 
 

(b) Foreign exchange risk (continued) 
 

 PGK EUR USD HKD Other Total 
 US$ US$ US$ US$ US$ US$ 
The Group       
2014       
Financial Assets       
       
Cash and cash 

equivalents 
 

5,857,006 
 

1,058,953 
 

173,832,436 
 

- 1,070,527 
 

181,818,922 
Financial assets at fair 

value through profit  
 or loss 113,341,294 42,220,162 830,929,764 13,055,319 76,322,150 1,075,868,689 
Other receivables  and 

finance lease receivable 
 

68,638,601 
 

- 
 

22,787,510 
 

- 
 

- 
 

91,426,111 
 187,836,901 43,279,115 1,027,549,710 13,055,319 77,392,677 1,349,113,722 
Financial Liabilities       
Sundry creditors and 

accruals (28,437,959) - - - - (28,437,959) 
       
Net financial assets 159,398,942 43,279,115 1,027,549,710 13,055,319 77,392,677 1,320,675,763 
       
Less: Net financial 
assets denominated in 
the Group’s functional 
currency - - (1,027,549,710) - - (1,027,549,710) 
       
Currency exposure 159,398,942 43,279,115 - 13,055,319 77,392,677 293,126,053 

 
 

 PGK EUR USD HKD Other Total 
 US$ US$ US$ US$ US$ US$ 
The Company       
2015       
Financial Assets       
Cash and cash 

equivalents 
 

6,785,986 1,654,133 
 

130,420,059 
 

258,060 
 

24,997,446 
 

164,115,684 
Financial assets at fair 

value through profit or 
loss 

 
 

71,853,407 

 
 

34,612,449 

 
 

911,620,765 

 
 

5,246,620 

 
 

55,817,796 

 
 

1,079,151,037 
Other receivables                           74,905,690 - - - - 74,905,690 

 153,545,083 36,266,582 1,042,040,824 5,504,680 80,815,242 1,318,172,411 
Financial Liabilities       
Sundry creditors and 

accruals 
 

(537,580) 
 

- 
 

- 
 

- 
 

- 
 

(537,580) 
       
Net financial assets 153,007,503 36,266,582 1,042,040,824 5,504,680 80,815,242 1,317,634,831 
       
Less: Net financial 
assets  denominated 
in the Company’s 
functional currency -  (1,042,040,824) - - (1,042,040,824) 

       
Currency exposure 153,007,503 36,266,582 - 5,504,680 80,815,242 275,594,007 
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22. Financial risk management (continued) 
 

(i) Market risk (continued) 
 

(b)  Foreign exchange risk (continued) 
 

 PGK EUR USD HKD Other Total 
 US$ US$ US$ US$ US$ US$ 
The Company       
2014       
Financial Assets       
Cash and cash 

equivalents 
 

1,891,374 1,058,953 
 

173,832,436 
 

- 1,070,526 
 

177,853,289 
Financial assets at fair 

value through profit or 
loss 

 
 

101,420,395 

 
 

42,220,162 

 
 

830,929,764 

 
 

13,055,319 

 
 

76,322,150 

 
 

1,063,947,790 
Other receivables                           85,056,035 - - - - 85,056,035 
 188,367,804 43,279,115 1,004,762,200 13,055,319 77,392,676 1,326,857,114 
Financial Liabilities       
Sundry creditors and 

accruals (1,765,990) - - - - (1,765,990) 
       
Net financial assets 186,601,814 43,279,115 1,004,762,200 13,055,319 77,392,676 1,325,091,124 
       
Less: Net financial 
assets  denominated 
in the Company’s 
functional currency - - (1,004,762,200) - - (1,004,762,200) 

       
Currency exposure 186,601,814 43,279,115 - 13,055,319 77,392,676 320,328,924 

 
In accordance with the Group’s policy, the fund managers monitor the 
Group’s foreign exchange exposure on a daily basis, and the 
Investment and Finance Committee reviews it on a quarterly basis.The 
table below summarises the sensitivity of the Group’s investment 
portfolio to changes in foreign exchange movements at year end. The 
analysis is based on the assumptions that the relevant foreign 
exchange rate increased/decreased against the US Dollar by the 
percentages disclosed in the table below, with all other variables held 
constant. This represents management’s best estimate of a 
reasonable possible shift in the foreign exchange rates, having regard 
to historical volatility of those rates.  
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22. Financial risk management (continued) 
 

(i) Market risk (continued) 
 

 (b) Foreign exchange risk (continued) 
 

If the PGK changed against the USD by 14% (2014: 5%) with all other 
variables including tax rate being held constant, the effects arising 
from the net financial liability/asset position will be as follows: 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
If the EUR change against the USD by 11% (2014: 5%) with all other 
variables including tax rate being held constant, the effects arising 
from the net financial liability/asset position will be as follows: 

 
  2015  2014 
  Increase/(Decrease) 

  
Surplus from 
operations  

Surplus from 
operations 

  US$  US$ 
     
 The Group    
 EUR against USD    
 - strengthened (3,989,324)  (2,163,956) 
 - weakened  3,989,324  2,163,956 
     
 The Company    
 EUR against USD    
 - strengthened (3,989,324)  (2,163,956) 
 - weakened  3,989,324  2,163,956 

 
  

  2015  2014 
  Increase/(Decrease) 

  
Surplus from 
operations  

Surplus from 
operations 

  US$  US$ 
 The Group    
 PGK against USD    
 - strengthened        (17,573,532)   (7,969,947) 
 - weakened  17,573,532  7,969,947  
     
 The Company    
 PGK against USD    
 - strengthened        (21,421,050)   (9,330,091) 
 - weakened  21,421,050  9,330,091 
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22. Financial risk management (continued) 
 

(i) Market risk (continued) 
 

(b) Foreign exchange risk (continued) 
 

If the HKD change against the USD by 2% (2014: 4%) with all other 
variables including tax rate being held constant, the effects arising 
from the net financial liability/asset position will be as follows: 

 
  2015  2014 
  Increase/(Decrease) 

  
Surplus from 
operations  

Surplus from 
operations 

  US$  US$ 
     
 The Group    
 HKD against USD    
 - strengthened (110,094)  (652,766) 
 - weakened  110,094  652,766 
     
 The Company    
 HKD against USD    
 - strengthened (110,094)  (652,766) 
 - weakened  110,094  652,766 

 
(c) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk 

 
Interest rate risk arises from the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing 
levels of markets interest rates on the fair value of financial assets and 
liabilities and future cash flow. The Group holds fixed interest 
securities that expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk. The 
Group also holds a limited amount of Euro-denominated floating rate 
debt, cash and cash equivalents that expose the Group to cash flow 
interest rate risk. The Group’s policy requires the Investment Manager 
to manage this risk by measuring the mismatch of the interest rate 
sensitivity gap of financial assets and liabilities and calculating the 
average duration of the portfolio of fixed interest securities. The 
average effective duration of the Group’s portfolio is a measure of the 
sensitivity of the fair value of the Group’s fixed interest securities to 
changes in market interest rates. 

 
As the Group and the Company has interest-bearing assets, the 
Group’s and the Company’s income and cash flows are affected by 
changes in market interest rates. 
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22. Financial risk management (continued) 
 

(i) Market risk (continued) 
 

(c) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk (continued) 
 

The Group’s and the Company’s interest rate risk arises from term 
deposits, commercial papers and bonds.  The Group’s and the 
Company’s risk management policy is to limit investment in 
commercial papers to not more than 1% per institution and no more 
than 20% of the investment portfolio exposure to any single country. 

 
Movements in interest bearing assets primarily arise from the 
increase/decrease in the fair value of fixed interest securities, with a 
small proportion arising from the decrease/increase in interest income 
on cash and cash equivalents. The Group has direct exposure to 
interest rates changes on the valuation of cash flows from its interest 
bearing assets and liabilities. At 31 December 2015 and 31 December 
2014, if interest rates had been 5% higher/lower with all other variable 
constant the effects in the interest bearing assets in the Group and 
Company are as follows: 
 

  2015  2014 
  Increase/(Decrease) 

  
Surplus from 
operations  

Surplus from 
operations 

  US$  US$ 
     
 The Group    
 - strengthened 727,504  694,817 
 - weakened  (727,504)  (694,817) 
     
 The Company    
     

 
- strengthened 
- weakened  

722,904 
(722,904)  

684,654 
(684,654) 
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22. Financial risk management (continued) 
 

(ii) Credit risk 
 

Credit risk refers to the risk that counterparty will default on its contractual 
obligations resulting in financial loss to the Group and the Company. The 
major classes of financial assets of the Group and of the Company are cash 
and bank balances, receivables and financial instruments. For receivables 
other than related parties, the Group and the Company adopts the policy of 
dealing only with customers of appropriate credit history, and obtaining 
sufficient collateral where appropriate to mitigate credit risk. For other financial 
assets, the Group and the Company adopts the policy of dealing only with 
high credit quality counterparties.  
 
 
The analysis below summarises the credit quality as at year end. The majority 
of unrated securities have been assessed by the fund managers to have credit 
quality consistent with the investment policies and guidelines approved by the 
Board of Directors for an investment grade bond. A BBB/Baa rating is the 
lowest rating a bond can have and still be considered an investment grade 
bond. An investment grade bond is a bond considered to have a relatively low 
risk of default. 

 

 The Group 
2015 
US$  

2014 
US$ 

   
 AAA/Aaa 150,466,429  175,257,049 
 AA/Aa 561,444,190  516,043,421 
 A/A 92,264,423  73,154,406 
 BBB/Baa 5,889,614  16,059,323 
 Unrated** 43,272,392  34,481,649 
 Total 853,337,048  814,995,848 

 
 The Company    
 Debt securities by rating  
 AAA/Aaa  150,466,429    175,257,049  
 AA/Aa  561,444,190    516,043,421  
 A/A  92,264,423    73,154,406  
 BBB/Baa  5,889,614    16,059,323  
 Unrated** 37,876,055  22,560,750 
 Total 847,940,711  803,074,949 

 
** - This relates to bonds which have no available rating including government bonds of 
 Papua New Guinea. 
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22. Financial risk management (continued) 
 
(ii) Credit risk (continued) 

 
Credit exposure to an individual counterparty is restricted by credit limits that 
are approved by the Investment and Finance Committee based on ongoing 
credit evaluation.  The counterparty’s payment profile and credit exposure are 
continuously monitored at the entity level by the respective management and 
at the Group level by the Investment and Finance Committee. All amounts due 
from brokers, cash and short-term deposits are held by parties with credit 
ratings in line with the investment policies and guideline approved by the 
Board of Directors. 

 
All transactions in listed securities made by the fund managers are settled 
upon delivery using approved brokers. The risk of default is considered 
minimal, as delivery of securities sold is only made once the broker has 
received payment. Payment is made on a purchase once the securities have 
been received by the broker. The trade will fail if either party fails to meet its 
obligation. 
 

Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, financial instruments and 
deposits with banks and financial institutions.  For banks and financial 
institutions, the Group only transacts with independently rated parties with       
 
high credit ratings. The investment in commercial papers and bonds are 
restricted to institutions in OECD member countries. 

 
In accordance with the Groups policy, the fund managers monitor the Group’s 
credit position on a daily basis; the Investment and Finance Committee 
reviews it on a quarterly basis. 
 

 As the Group and the Company do not hold any collateral, the maximum risk 
for each class of financial instruments is the carrying amount of that class of 
financial instruments presented on the balance sheet.  
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22. Financial risk management (continued) 
 
(ii) Credit risk (continued) 

 
The maximum exposure to credit risk at year end is the carrying amount of the 
financial assets as set out below: 

 

   
2015 
US$  

2014 
US$ 

 The Group     
 Bonds   853,337,048  814,995,849 

 Cash and cash equivalents  167,850,858  181,818,922 
 Finance & Other receivables  75,497,203  91,426,111 
 Total  1,096,685,109  1,088,240,882 
 
 The Company     
 Bonds   847,940,711  803,074,950 
 Cash and cash equivalents  164,115,684  177,853,289 
 Other receivables  74,905,690  85,056,035 
 Total  1,086,962,085    1,065,984,274 

 
 (a)     Financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired 

 
 Bank deposits, commercial papers and bonds that are neither past 

due nor impaired are mainly deposits, commercial papers and bonds 
with banks with high credit-ratings assigned by international credit-
rating agencies. Other receivables that are neither past due nor 
impaired are substantially trade receivables of subsidiaries in the 
Group. 

 
 The Group’s other receivables not past due include receivables 

amounting to US$nil (2014: US$nil) that would have been past due or 
impaired if the terms were not re-negotiated during the financial year.  
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22. Financial risk management (continued) 
 
(ii) Credit risk (continued) 

 
 (b)     Financial assets that are past due and/or impaired 
 

 There is no other class of financial assets that is past due and/or 
impaired except for trade receivables. 

 
The age analysis of other receivables past due but not impaired is as 
follows: 

 
  The Group  The Company 
  2015 2014  2015 2014 
  US$ US$  US$ US$ 
       
 Past due < 3 months 374,673 407,315  - - 
 Past due 3 to 6 months 849,654 580,712  - - 
  1,224,327 988,027  - - 

 
(iii) Liquidity risk 

 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group may not be able to generate sufficient 
cash resources to settle its obligations in full as they fall due or can only do so 
on terms that are materially disadvantageous. 
 
The Group is exposed to the daily settlement of trading transactions and its 
policy is therefore to invest the majority of its assets in investments that are 
traded in an active market and can be readily disposed. Only a limited 
proportion of its assets in investments are not actively traded on a stock 
exchange. The Group’s listed securities are considered readily realisable, as 
the majority are listed on reputable stock exchanges. 
 
The Group’s fund managers may periodically invest in derivative contracts and 
debt securities that are traded over the counter and unlisted equity 
investments that are not traded in an active market. As a result, the Group 
may not be able to liquidate quickly its investments in these instruments at an 
amount close to their fair value to meet its liquidity requirements, or be able to 
respond to specific events such as deterioration in the creditworthiness of any 
particular issuer. 

 
  Prudent liquidity risk management includes maintaining sufficient cash and 

marketable securities, the availability of funding from an adequate amount of 
committed credit facilities and the ability to close out market positions.  The 
Group maintains sufficient funds in cash and cash equivalents to meet its 
operating commitments.  

  
In accordance with the Group’s policy, the Investment Manager monitors the 
Fund’s liquidity position on a daily basis; the Investment and Finance 
Committee reviews it on a quarterly basis. 
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22. Financial risk management (continued) 
 
(iii) Liquidity risk (continued) 

 
The Group manages its liquidity risk by investing predominantly in securities 
that it expects to be able to liquidate within 90 days or less. The following table 
illustrates the expected liquidity of assets held. 

 

 
The group has certain financial assets in Papua New Guinea amounting to 
US$87,764,337 (2014:US$120,199,227). Access to these assets may be 
restricted if these assets are realised in the form of cash and cash equivalent 
in Papua New Guinea as the tax authorities have declined the Company's tax 
clearance applications to remit further funds overseas (note 9).  

 

  1 to 3 months 
3 to 12 
months  

More than 12 
months Total 

 The Group US$ US$ US$ US$ 
 2014     
 Financial assets     
 Cash and cash equivalents   181,818,922 - - 181,818,922 

 
Financial assets at fair value 

through profit or loss 
 

- 168,813,371 907,055,318 1,075,868,689 

 
Other receivables  and 

finance lease receivable 18,040,323 5,680,633 67,705,155 91,426,111 
  199,859,245 174,494,004 974,760,473 1,349,113,722 
 Financial Liabilities     

 
Sundry creditors and 

accruals (28,179,250) (258,709) - (28,437,959) 
      

 Net financial assets 
 

171,679,995 174,235,295 974,760,473 1,320,675,763 

 
  

 
The Group 

1 to  
3 months 

3 to  
12 months  

More than  
12 months Total 

 2015 US$ US$ US$ US$ 
 Financial Assets     

 Cash and cash equivalents   167,850,858 - - 167,850,858 
 Financial assets at fair value 

through profit or loss 
 

- 89,111,999 995,435,375 1,084,547,374 

 Other receivables  and 
finance lease receivable 

 
15,478,248 6,087,277 53,931,678 75,497,203 

 
 

 
183,329,106 95,199,276  

1,049,367,053 
 

1,327,895,435 
 Financial Liabilities     
 Sundry creditors and 

accruals (11,324,498) (4,819,457) (4,438,377) (20,582,332) 
      

 
Net financial assets 

 
172,004,608 90,379,819 

1,044,928,676 1,307,313,103 
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22. Financial risk management (continued) 
 
(iii) Liquidity risk (continued) 

 
The Company manages its liquidity risk by investing predominantly in 
securities that it expects to be able to liquidate within 90 days or less. The 
following table illustrates the expected liquidity of assets held. 

 
 

 The Company 
1 to  

3 months 
3 to  

12 months  
More than  
12 months Total 

  US$ US$ US$ US$ 
 2014     
 Financial assets     

 
Cash and cash 

equivalents 177,853,289                                 
-    

                              
-    177,853,289 

 

Financial assets at fair 
value through profit 
or loss 

 
- 

 
156,892,472 

 
907,055,318 

 
1,063,947,790 

 

Other receivables  and 
finance lease 
receivable 3,354,368 81,701,667 - 85,056,035 

  181,207,657	   238,594,139 907,055,318	   1,326,857,114	  
 Financial Liabilities     

 
Sundry creditors and 

accruals (1,765,990) - - (1,765,990) 
      
 Net financial assets 179,441,667 238,594,139 907,055,318 1,325,091,124 
 
  

 
The Company 

1 to  
3 months 

3 to  
12 months  

More than  
12 months Total 

 2015 US$ US$ US$ US$ 
 Financial Assets     

 Cash and cash 
equivalents 

 
164,115,684 

 
- 

 
- 

 
164,115,684 

 Financial assets at fair 
value through profit 
or loss 

 
 

- 

 
 

83,715,662 

 
 

995,435,375 

 
 

1,079,151,037 
 Other receivables  and 

finance lease 
receivable 984,687 73,921,003 - 74,905,690 

  165,100,371 157,636,665 995,435,375 1,318,172,411 
 Financial Liabilities     
 Sundry creditors and 

accruals (537,580) - - (537,580) 
 Net financial assets 164,562,791 157,636,665 995,435,375 1,317,634,831 
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22. Financial risk management (continued) 
 

(iv) Capital risk management 
 

The Group is a “limited by guarantee” entity which means that it has no share 
capital, debentures, share options or unissued shares. The Group’s operations 
are governed by a set of rules and agreements that pertain to its unique 
structure and circumstances. 
 
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s 
ability to continue as a going concern and to maintain an optimal capital 
structure so as to promote sustainable development within Papua New 
Guinea, and advance the general welfare of the people of Papua New Guinea.  
  
The Long Term Fund (LTF) and The Development Fund are governed by the 
rules as described in Note 2.1.14.  
 
Project commitments and funding requirements are monitored on a daily basis 
by the finance department and reported to the Board on a quarterly basis. 

 
(v) Fair value estimation 

 
The fair value of financial assets and liabilities traded in active markets (such 
as publicly traded derivatives and trading securities) are based on quoted 
market prices at the close of trading on the year end date. 
 
An active market is a market in which transactions for the asset or liability take 
place with sufficient frequency and volume to provide pricing information on an 
ongoing basis. 
 
The fair value of financial assets and liabilities that are not traded in an active 
market is determined by using valuation techniques. The fund managers use a 
variety of methods and makes assumptions that are based on market 
conditions existing at each year end date. Valuation techniques used for non-
standardised financial instruments such as options, currency swaps and other 
over-the-counter derivatives, include the use of comparable recent arm’s 
length transactions, reference to other instruments that are substantially the 
same, discounted cash flow analysis, option pricing models and other 
valuation techniques commonly used by market participants making the 
maximum use of market inputs and relying as little as possible on entity-
specific inputs. 
 
For instruments for which there is no active market, the fund managers may 
use internally developed models, which are usually based on valuation 
methods and techniques generally recognised as standard within the industry. 
Valuation models are used primarily to value unlisted equity, debt securities 
and other debt instruments for which markets were or have been inactive 
during the financial year. Some of the inputs to these models may not be 
market observable and are therefore estimated based on assumptions. 
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22. Financial risk management (continued) 
 
(v) Fair value estimation (continued) 

 
The output of a model is always an estimate or approximation of a value that 
cannot be determined with certainty, and valuation techniques employed may 
not fully reflect all factors relevant to the positions the fund managers holds for 
the Group.  

 
Valuations are therefore adjusted, where appropriate, to allow for additional 
factors including model risk, liquidity risk and counterparty risk. 

 
 The assets and liabilities measured at fair value and classified by level of the 

following fair value measurement hierarchy: 
 

(a) quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or 
liabilities (Level 1); 

 
(b) inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are 

observable for the asset or liability, either directly (as-is prices) or 
indirectly (i.e. derived from prices) (Level 2); and 

 
(c) inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market 

data (unobservable inputs) (Level 3).  
  
The level in the fair value hierarchy within which the fair value measurement is 
categorised in its entirety is determined on the basis of the lowest level input 
that is significant to the fair value measurement in its entirety. For this 
purpose, the significance of an input is assessed against the fair value 
measurement in its entirety. If a fair value measurement uses observable 
inputs that require significant adjustment based on unobservable inputs, that 
measurement is a Level 3 measurement. Assessing the significance of a 
particular input to the fair value measurement in its entirety requires 
judgement, considering factors specific to the asset or liability. 

 
The determination of what constitutes ‘observable’ requires significant 
judgement by the Fund. The Fund considers observable data to be that 
market data that is readily available, regularly distributed or updated, reliable 
and verifiable, not proprietary, and provided by independent sources that are 
actively involved in the relevant market. 
 
The following table analyses within the fair value hierarchy the Fund’s assets 
and liabilities (by class) measured at fair value at 31 December 2015. 
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22. Financial risk management (continued) 
 
(v) Fair value estimation (continued) 
 

All fair value measurements disclosed are recurring fair value measurements: 
 

  Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total  
  US$ US$ US$ US$ 
 The Group     
 2015     
 Assets     

 
Financial assets at fair value 

through profit or loss     
  Bonds 847,940,711 5,396,337 - 853,337,048 
  Equity securities 222,940,429 - - 222,940,429 
  Funds - 8,269,897 - 8,269,897 
 Total assets 1,070,881,140 13,666,234 - 1,084,547,374 

 
 2014     
 Assets     

 
Financial assets at fair value 

through profit or loss     
  Bonds 803,074,949 11,920,899 - 814,995,848 
  Equity securities 249,572,889 - - 249,572,889 
  Funds - 11,299,952 - 11,299,952 
 Total assets 1,052,647,838 23,220,851 - 1,075,868,689 
 
 The Company     
 2015     
 Assets     

 
Financial assets at fair value 

through profit or loss     
  Bonds 847,940,711 - - 847,940,711 
  Equity securities 222,940,429 - - 222,940,429 
  Funds - 8,269,897 - 8,269,897 
 Total assets 1,070,881,140 8,269,897 - 1,079,151,037 

 
 2014     
 Assets     

 
Financial assets at fair value 

through profit or loss     
  Bonds 803,074,949 - - 803,074,949 
  Equity securities 249,572,889 - - 249,572,889 
  Funds - 11,299,952 - 11,299,952 
 Total assets 1,052,647,838 11,299,952 - 1,063,947,790 
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22. Financial risk management (continued) 
 
(v) Fair value estimation (continued) 

 
Investments whose values are based on quoted market prices in active 
markets, and are therefore classified within Level 1, include active listed 
equities and exchange traded derivatives, US government treasury bills and 
certain non-US sovereign obligations. The Group does not adjust the quoted 
price for these instruments. 

 
Financial instruments that trade in markets that are not considered to be active 
but are valued based on quoted market prices, dealer quotations or alternative 
pricing sources supported by observable inputs are classified within Level 2. 
These include investment-grade corporate bonds and certain non-US 
sovereign obligations, listed equities and over the-counter derivatives. As 
Level 2 investments include positions that are not traded in active markets 
and/or are subject to transfer restrictions, valuations may be adjusted to reflect 
illiquidity and/or non-transferability, which are generally based on available 
market information. 

 
Investments classified within Level 3 have significant unobservable inputs, as 
they trade infrequently. Level 3 instruments include private equity and 
corporate debt securities. As observable prices are not available for these 
securities, the fund managers have used valuation techniques to derive the 
fair value. Per Group mandate, no funds are used for Level 3 investments 
(2014: Nil). 

 
The carrying value less impairment provision of trade receivables and 
payables are assumed to approximate their fair values. The fair value of 
financial liabilities for disclosure purposes is estimated based on quoted 
market prices or dealer quotes for similar instruments by discounting the future 
contractual cash flows at the current market interest rate that is available to 
the Group for similar financial instruments. The fair value of current borrowings 
approximates their carrying amount. 
 

 (vi) Financial Instruments by category  
 

The carrying amount of the different categories of financial instruments is as 
disclosed in Note 10 to the financial statements, except for the following:  
 

  The Group  The Company 
  2015 

US$ 
2014 
US$ 

 2015 
US$ 

2014 
US$ 

       
 Cash and receivables  243,348,061 273,245,033  239,021,374 262,909,324 
 Financial liabilities at 

  amortised cost 
 

20,582,333 
 

28,437,959 
  

537,580 
 

1,765,989 
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23. Related party transactions 
 
 Other than disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, the following transactions 

took place between the Company and related parties during the financial year: 
  
 Key management personnel compensation 
 
 The key management personnel compensation is analysed as follows:  
 
  The Group  The Company 
 

 
2015 
US$ 

2014 
US$  

2015 
US$ 

2014 
US$ 

       
 Directors – fees  547,358 704,921  474,675  642,134 
 Management salaries and other 

short-term benefits 
 

1,011,456 
  

1,688,430  428,162  1,248,390 
  1,558,814   2,393,351  902,837 1,890,524 
  
 There has been a Consumer Price Index (CPI) adjustment in the amount of 

remuneration payable to individual directors.  
 
 
24. Disposal of subsidiaries 

 
As disclosed in Note 8, the subsidiaries Cloudy Bay Sustainable Forestry Limited, 
Western Province Sustainable Power Limited and Star Mountain Institute of 
Technology were disposed of in 2014. 
 
Analysis of assets and liabilities over which control was lost in 2014: 
 

  
Group 
2014 

  US$ 
   

 
 
Assets  

 Cash and cash equivalents  80,604 
 Trade receivables 1,016,281 
 Inventories 2,824,944 
 Property, plant and equipment 3,526,575 
  7,448,404 

 
 
Liabilities   

 Trade payables  (3,747,807) 
  (3,747,807) 
   
 Net assets disposed  3,700,597 
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24.  Disposal of subsidiaries (continued) 
 
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries  

 
Group 
2014 

 US$ 
 
Consideration received 5,190,733 
Net assets disposed of (3,700,597) 
Cumulative exchange gain in respect of net assets of subsidiary  
reclassified from equity to profit and loss on loss of control of subsidiaries 9,320,613 
Gain on disposal (Note 8) 10,810,749 
 
The gain on disposal is included in the profit for the year from discontinued operations 
(see Note 8). 

  
Net cash inflow on disposal of subsidiaries  

 

Group 
2014 
US$ 

  
Consideration received in cash and cash equivalents 5,190,733 
Less: cash and cash equivalents balances disposed of (80,604) 
 5,110,129 

 
 
25. Financial assets, available-for-sale 
 

The Company maintains a 5% interest in a telecommunication carrier in Papua New 
Guinea acquired at a cost of US$6,000,000. This was fully impaired in prior years and 
based on fair value assessment at balance sheet date, the investment remains fully 
impaired. 
 

 
26. New or revised accounting standards and interpretations 
 

The Company has not early adopted any mandatory standards, amendments and 
interpretations to existing standards that have been published but are only effective for 
the Company’s accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2016, However, 
Management anticipates that the adoption these standards, amendments and 
interpretations will not have a material impact on the financial statements of the 
Company in the period of their initial adoption. 
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27. Subsequent events 
 

 On 3 March 2016, The Group entered into an aircraft sale agreement with the lessee  
in relation to one of the Bombardier Q400 aircraft which was previously under a 
finance lease arrangement. The aircraft was sold for USD10,625,000 with a gain on 
sale of USD3,617,621. 

 
 
28. Authorisation of financial statements 
 

These financial statements were authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution 
of the Board of Directors of PNG Sustainable Development Program Limited  
on 19 April 2016. 
 


